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As a Company that has been in Sri Lanka since 1984, we embody the power of 
togetherness. Over the years, our team efforts have reaped results, and this fiscal year was 
no different. Despite the challenges posed by the pandemic, global and domestic economic 

and political uncertainties, we have been able to drive forward and record significant 
profits. We have managed our resources well while also ensuring the sustainability of our 
operations by nurturing healthy relationships between all stakeholders. At a time when 

unity and harmony are of utmost importance, our organizational culture that priorities the 
power of togetherness will continue to be our driving strength.
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VISION
To be the preferred choice of the 
discerning customer for products 
and services in the construction 
industry

MISSION
Manufacture and provide products 
and services of consistent quality 
and reliability for the construction 
industry.
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KEY PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
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Revenue

Rs. 6.7 

Billion
Profit Before Tax

Rs. 675.6 

Million

Profit After Tax

Rs. 502.1 

Million
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SYNOPSIS

Performance during the Year
We have been able to record net revenue of Rs. 6.7 Bn. 
during the financial year 2021/2022, which is a 63 percent 
growth from last year, and Profit After Tax grew by 25 
percent to Rs. 502 Mn., which is the highest profit recorded 
in the Company’s 38-year long history. While this period has 
been rife with challenges due to the prevailing economic 
situation in the country, we have been able to journey 
forward by taking conscientious and pragmatic steps so that 
we perform consistently.

Dividends 
The Directors have recommended a first and final dividend 
of Rs. 5/- per  ordinary share by the way of the scrip 
dividend for the year ended 31st March 2022.

Product Portfolio
We continue to deliver value to our customers through 
our flagship brands, National PVC and Krypton, where we 
consistently focus on introducing new products to fulfill the 
requirements of our customers. As a Company, we always 
focus on innovative product development so that we meet 
the evolving needs of our customers, while also being true 
to our vision, “to be the preferred choice of the discerning 
customer for products and services in the construction 
industry”. 

Our product portfolio under the “National PVC” brand 
name includes uPVC pipes and fittings, accessories, water 
tanks, sewerage and drainage pipes and fittings, electrical 
casings, conduits, flexible conduits, garden hose, ball valves, 
rainwater management products, roofing accessories, and 
solvent cement. Water management accessories under the 
‘Aquatec’ brand includes thread seal tape and water taps 
while the brand name ‘Greenwood’ focuses on valance 
boards. 

“National PE” pipes are designed for high-end applications. 
It is certified by the Sri Lanka Standards Institution and the 
Water Regulations Advisory Scheme (WRAS) from the 
UK. The product portfolio under National PE includes a 
comprehensive range of polyethylene (PE) pressure pipes 
designed for potable water applications and several other 
high-pressure and low-pressure applications. 

‘Krypton’ electrical switches and accessories are 
manufactured under strict quality control. The products are 
certified by SLSI in compliance with mandatory standards. 
The product portfolio under Krypton includes a range of 
switches and sockets, MCBs and RCCBs, isolators and 
other accessories. ‘Krypton Pioneer’ is a premium range 
offering aesthetically pleasing designs to cater to high-end 
consumers who are focused on creating elegant interiors.
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Human Resources
Our aim is to attract the best talent to form and nurture 
powerful and forward-thinking teams that can serve our 
diverse customer segments present across the island. We 
focus on upskilling and strengthening our team by providing 
opportunities for skills development and training together 
with career growth. We maintain a performance-oriented 
culture founded on the principles of ethics and transparency. 
This has always remained our fundamental strategy in terms 
of strengthening employee productivity towards promoting 
sustainable and profitable growth.

Dedication, integrity and competency are key attributes 
of our employees that prepare them for the next level 
of operational excellence. As an organization, we ensure 
inclusivity, diversity and equality, and thus we have 
employees from diverse backgrounds, ethnicities and 
religions. 

Our cloud based Human Resource Information System 
(HRIS) is instrumental in managing payroll and attendance. 
The Company HR policies are compliant with all governing 
statutes of the country, while also ensuring that they are in 
the best interest of our employees in order to maintain a 
conducive and happy working environment.

Marketing and Promotions
Promotional and marketing activities continue to be a vital 
aspect in creating awareness and enabling growth with our 
target customer segments. Therefore, we focus on activities 
that could enhance our brand image and presence. However, 
with the challenging economic situation in the country, We 
have been continuing the branding initiatives, even though 
the economic conditions are curtailing the high investments.

We continue below the line promotional activities for 
National PVC and Krypton, and give greater focus to digital 
campaigns. Vehicle branding and island-wide installation of 
outdoor hoardings, and field promotional campaigns were 
some of the activities that were also carried out to support 
the brands.

We launched an e-commerce platform to market our 
products under the brand “CMart” which is accessible at 
‘cmart.nationalpvc.com’, as customers have an increased 
preference to shop online. 

Moreover, we continued to conduct training workshops 
for plumbers and electricians to improve their professional 
knowledge and skills, thus, empowering them to provide 
a better-quality service to our customers. We also 
collaborated with the Public Utilities Commission to train  
electricians and uplift their professional knowledge. 
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CHAIRMAN’S 
REVIEW
On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure 
to present the Annual Report and the Audited Financial 
Statements of Central Industries PLC for the financial year 
2021/22. The Company has remained resilient and steadfast 
in its approach, having recorded growth despite a turbulent 
macroeconomic environment that has caused social and 
political unrest in the country.

The Sri Lankan economy recorded a growth of 3.7 percent 
in 2021, compared to -3.6 percent in 2020. With the relaxing 
of COVID-19 pandemic-related restrictions, there was a 
sense of hope and revival, with the three economic sectors 
– agriculture, industry, and services – showing growth. 
However, short-sighted economic, fiscal, and monetary 
policy saw the country experiencing the worst economic 
crisis the nation has ever seen. 

Elevated inflation, pressure on the balance of payments 
(BOP), and currency volatility are some of the critical 
issues faced by the Sri Lankan economy. With the severe 
BOP crisis, the country has insufficient foreign exchange 
to purchase essential goods such as food, energy, and 
pharmaceuticals. Sri Lanka’s weak fiscal position has resulted 
in the downgrading of our credit rating, loss of access 
to international capital markets, and foreign financing. 
In addition, domestic financing of the budget including 
monetary financing by the Central Bank has resulted in 
significant macroeconomic imbalances. 

Company’s Performance
Through these challenging times, the Company was able to 
record net revenue of Rs. 6.7 Bn. rupees in the financial year 
under review, which is a 63 percent growth over the last year.  
Profit After Tax grew by 25 percent to Rs. 502 Mn., and ROE as 
a ratio is 18.9 percent. The project that we completed for the 
Water Board, under the government’s concept of ‘Water For All’, 
in the year 2021 contributed to this result. 

In the latter part of the financial year, the floating of the 
rupee against the US dollar severely affected our bottom line  
Furthermore, the lack of US dollars in the market resulted in 
the limited importation of much-needed raw materials for 
production. By maintaining good relationships with our banks 
and supplier network we were able to mitigate adverse effects 
and import raw materials to ensure the continuity of our 
operations, but at much increased costs. 

Dividends
The Board is pleased to recommend a first and final dividend 
of Rs. 5/- per share in the form of the scrip dividend.  Even 
though our performance during the year under review was 
good, we have enormous challenges ahead. Our Auditors 
M/S KPMG Chartered Accountants have confirmed that this 
distribution satisfies the solvency test requirement of the 
Companies Act No.07 of 2007 and a certificate to this effect 
has been obtained. 

Expansion of Distributor Network
In 2021, we increased the number of distributors and 
expanded our dealer network as we increased our 
production capacity. Furthermore, the Company increased 
its reach geographically, which in turn contributed to overall 
growth. We expanded our capacity by introducing new 
machines to our production lines, which in turn resulted in a 
growth in the Company’s revenue, significantly.  This enabled 
us to gain significant market share despite competition.

Product Enhancement
With the enhancement of our product basket with new 
designs, our electrical segment also improved this year. Due 
to the rising cost of raw materials, we were unable to record 
growth but sustained performance levels of the previous 
year. In addition, the continuous improvement in the water 
management segment has been progressing with innovation 
and commitment to quality. We are one of the only two 
companies in Sri Lanka to receive the WRAS certification 
from the UK, which certifies that no contamination occurs 
during the transportation of water through HDPE pipes 
manufactured by us under the National PE brand name. 

Revival in Construction Activities
With the resumption of construction activities in the 
economy in 2021, we were able to record significant growth 
despite raw material shortages. By focusing on efficiency, 
productivity, and fast delivery of services we were able 
to secure and grow our customer base. The Sri Lankan 
construction industry saw a growth of 1.9 percent, of 
which the Company was able to gain a significant share. 
Lowinterest rates in the year under review  also saw 
increased construction activities in domestic and corporate 
projects. 

Risk Assuage
A major risk factor we had to face was the adverse 
movement of the exchange rate. We were compelled to 
import most of our raw materials and essential machinery 
spares under usance terms due to Central Bank directives 
and amidst the non-availability of liquid foreign currency 
with commercial banks. This resulted in large exchange 
losses, which were further exacerbated due to the sudden 
relaxation of the exchange rate to a market-based rate 
determination. As a result, the Company had to absorb 
substantial exchange losses. Having built up a stockpile of 
raw materials which will see us through operations for the 
next few months, we may be able to mitigate the impact of 
exchange losses in the future by increasing the selling prices 
of our products.
 
Some other major risks are a significant increase in the 
price of raw materials, and credit risk. Through sensitivity 
analysis techniques we evaluate the potential impact 
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of these risks on the profitability of the Company on a 
regular basis. We believe that thereby we have somewhat 
mitigated the impact of raw material price increases. The 
Company’s exposure to credit risk was well-managed with 
long established, strong credit policies including formal 
evaluation of credit worthiness, pre-approved credit limits 
and continuous evaluation of credit lines, many supported 
with bank guarantees. 

As a manufacturer of pipes and fittings for the water 
management sector, we greatly depend on imported raw 
materials for our production. A critical hurdle we faced 
during the year was the delay in receiving raw materials 
from the suppliers. Restricted delivery patterns of shipping 
lines and the inability to find usable containers particularly 
contributed to this situation. However, we have built good 
working relationships with many shipping lines to ensure 
that goods are delivered with minimal delays.

Human Resources
Our employees have been a pillar of strength, continuing 
with daily operations with determination amidst great 
challenges to reach our goals.  They have been pivotal to the 
success of the Company. 

We ensure that all our Human Resource policies are 
compliant with all governing statutes of the country, while 
also ensuring that these are in the best interest of our 
employees in order to maintain a conducive and happy 
working environment.

We have always ensured that our employees are treated 
well with appropriate remuneration and opportunities for 
skills development and training together with career growth. 
We are focused on attracting the best talent for our team 
so that we can serve diverse customer segments across the 
island. 

Corporate Governance
We continued to adhere to all statutory requirements and 
benchmark standards, thereby ensuring good corporate 
governance and quality standards. As a public quoted 
company, we have always given priority to our stakeholder 
requirements and work within the regulatory and legal 
framework of the country, while implementing industry best 
practices across all levels of our business operations.

Way Forward
Sri Lanka has a difficult journey ahead, and the situation is 
expected to worsen before it gets better. With the much-
needed corrective measures being implemented by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka recently, and the focus on building 
the credibility of the Sri Lankan economy, we believe 
that in time the country can overcome the current crisis. 
The government’s decision to seek the assistance of the 

International Monetary Fund (IMF) is only the starting point 
and will propel the country to implement critical reforms.

Central Industries was established in 1984, and since then 
the Company has weathered many storms remaining 
resilient in its journey, all the while supporting the country 
and its people. Sri Lanka is facing unprecedented challenges 
that could affect the future of generations to come; and, as 
responsible corporate citizens, we believe it is our duty and 
responsibility to remain hopeful, persevere, and give the 
necessary support to ensure that our country emerges from 
this economic catastrophe.

We have implemented processes to continuously evaluate 
all aspects of the economy which have a direct and 
significant bearing on the operations of the Company, 
especially those relating to the availability of resources, cost 
and inflationary pressures, cost of financing, and exchange 
rate fluctuations. Through these initiatives, the Company will 
develop and implement rapid responses as far as possible 
to unpredictable challenges that could occur in this volatile 
economic and business environment.    

Acknowledgment
“I would like to thank all our customers 
for continuing to place their trust in us 
and in our products over the years. I also 
thank all our distributors and dealers who 
have supported us with their relentless 
dedication towards our marketing and 
distribution endeavors. 

I also appreciate the invaluable contribution of our Bankers, 
Auditors and Company Secretaries.

While I sincerely appreciate the hard work and dedication of 
all our employees at a time of unprecedented crisis, I would 
like to express my special thanks to our Director/Chief 
Executive Officer - Mr. Mayura Rupatunge for his dedication 
and commitment and to my colleagues on the Board for 
their wise guidance and counsel.

My sincere gratitude goes to all our Shareholders for the 
trust you have placed in us and I assure you that as always, 
your expectations and interests will be at the forefront of 
our business decision making.  

(Sgd.)
G S N Peiris
Chairman
10th June 2022

’’
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 ▲ G. S. N. Peiris
 Chairman
Shamil Peiris has served on the Board of the Company 
since its inception. He was appointed as Chairman on 
26th July, 2013. He is also the Chairman of CF Insurance 
Brokers (Pvt) Ltd. and two other Companies within 
the Group.  He also serves on Boards of Companies 
outside the Group. He possesses over 44 years of post-
qualification management experience. He is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, 
Institute of Credit Management & Society of Certified 
Management Accountants of Sri Lanka, Chartered Institute 
of Management Accountants, UK, British Institute of 
Management and Association of Corporate Treasurers, UK.  
He is also a Chartered Global Management Accountant.

 ▲ Eranjith Harindra Wijenaike
 Non-Executive Director
Eranjith Wijenaike has served on the Board of the Company 
as a Non – Executive Director since its inception. He serves 
as  a Non-Executive Director of Equity One PLC, Equity 
Two PLC, and is the  Managing Director of Central Finance 
Company PLC. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce 
and a Post Graduate Diploma in Finance and Banking.  

 ▲ Sarath De Costa
 Non-Executive Director
Sarath De Costa was the Former Consul General for 
Sri Lanka in Osaka, Japan. He was appointed to the Board 
of Colombo Dockyard PLC in 1993 and is the Chairman 
and Managing Director of the Amano and Tivoli Group of 
Companies, President, Imperial Trading Corporation, Japan 
and Director Ceylon Shipping Agency (Pte) Ltd, Singapore. 
He is also  a Member of the Sri Lanka – Japan Business 
Co-operation Committee, and Life Member of the Japan 
Sri Lanka Technical Co-operation and a Member of the 
Sri Lanka Japan Friendship Society.

He was a Representative, Board of investment of Sri Lanka, 
Patron – Department of Neurosurgery Trust (National 
Hospital), Trustee – National Health Development Fund 
(Ministry of Health), Special Envoy / Advisor – Board 
of Investment of Sri Lanka, Member of the Advisory 
Committee – Ministry of Wild Life Resources Conservation 
and a Director of Industrial Development Board. 

 ▲ Arjuna Gunaratne
 Non-Executive Director
Arjuna Gunaratne has served on the Board of the Company 
since 2006. He is also Deputy Managing Director of Central 
Finance Company PLC and serves on the Boards of several 
Companies within the Group. He is a Fellow Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and of the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of UK. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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 ▲ Indranee Jayasinghe
 Independent Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Indranee Jayasinghe is a Fellow Member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. She holds a Master’s 
Degree from Harvard University, USA and a Post Graduate 
Diploma in State Enterprise & Economic Development from 
ISS, The Hague, Netherlands.

She was the Director General of the Public Enterprises 
Department of the Ministry of Finance and was also the 
CEO of Commercial Fund Management, a subsidiary of the 
Commercial Bank. Later she worked as senior tax advisor 
at KPMG, Chartered Accountants and is now a Partner of 
Jayasinghe & Company, Chartered Accountants.

Mrs. Jayasinghe has served on the Board of Directors 
of several Public & Private Sector Corporations and 
Companies.

 ▲ Ariyawansa Hettiarachchy
 Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Hettiarachchy was appointed to the Board as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director on 1st July 2017. 
He is a Chartered Engineer, a Member of the Institutions 
of Electrical Engineers and a member of the Institution 
of Chemical Engineers.  He is a Director of the Sri Lanka 
Institute of Nanotechnology and provides guidance to the 
Engineering division. He serves on the Board of Lankem 
Ceylon PLC and on the board of several other subsidiaries 
of the company. He is also the Chairman of the Board of 
ISL Services Limited and the Chairman of LOLC – AT, a 
subsidiary of LOLC.

He has served on the Board of Hayleys PLC and functioned 
as Managing Director of Haycarb PLC, Recogen Limited and 
Puritas Limited.

Mr. Hettiarachchy has also served on the Boards of 
several other subsidiaries of Haycarb PLC and Hayleys 
PLC both in Sri Lanka and overseas. He was also a Board 
Member of the Coconut Research Institute, National 
Science Foundation (NSF) and the Sri Lanka Institute of 
Nanotechnology. A member of the National Nanotechnology 
Committee and a member of several advisory Boards of 
the NSF, Mr. Hettiarachchy possesses expertise in the 
fields of Process Design, Installation and Commissioning 
of petrochemical and other process plants, Mechanical 
Engineering, Thermal and Electrical Energy Generation and 
Storage, and Nanotechnology.

 ▲ Chaminda Sampath Hettiarachchi
 Non-Executive Director
C.S. Hettiarachchi was appointed to the Board on 
30th June 2018. He is also the Director of Central Finance 
Company PLC and serves as a Director on four other 
companies within the Group. He holds a Bachelor of Laws 
(LL.B) Degree from the University of Colombo and an 
MBA from University of Sri Jayawardenapura (PIM). He is 
an Attorney-at-Law of the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka. 
He is the current Chairman of the Leasing Association of 
Sri Lanka (LASL) and a Director of the Credit Information 
Bureau of Sri Lanka (CRIB).  

 ▲ Ranil de Silva 
 Independent Non-Executive Director
Ranil de Silva served as the Jt. Managing Director of Aitken 
Spence Hotels and Managing Director of the Hemas Hotel 
Sector. Having commenced his career at Ernst & Young, he 
has wide experience locally and internationally in diverse 
industries.  He is a Chartered Accountant of Sri Lanka 
and a member of the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants of UK and the Chartered Institute of Marketing, 
UK. He also serves as an Independent Director of Singer 
Finance PLC, Hayleys Leisure PLC, The Autodrome PLC and 
Lanka Shipping & Logistics (Pvt) Ltd.

 ▲ I.M.P.Rupatunge 
 Executive Director
Mayura Rupatunge CEO of Central Industries PLC was 
appointed to the Director Board on 11th August 2020. He 
has been associated with the Company since September 
2016. 

He counts over 21 years’ experience in the manufacturing 
industry and has graduated from the Faculty of Engineering, 
University of Peradeniya and holds a Postgraduate 
qualification from the Faculty of Graduate Studies, University 
of Colombo. 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Economic Situation
As the world emerges from the effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic, major challenges prevail in terms of climate change, 
inequality, digitalization  and the undermining of democracy. 
Furthermore, for low and middle-income countries such as Sri 
Lanka rising cost of debt and the increase in fuel and food prices 
have further exacerbated the situation. 

The pandemic revealed the vulnerabilities in global supply 
chains, which collapsed the moment they came under sustained 
pressure. Furthermore, supply chains have not been able to keep 
pace with global economic recovery, where congested ports and 
widespread shortages have resulted in massive delays across 
major supply chain hubs. 

Furthermore, due to major congestion in the main ports, 
shipping lines have opted to divert carriers to other ports 
thereby once again significantly increasing the cost for the 
exporter and the importer. Globally, all major shipping routes are 
experiencing this phenomenon. Freight charges have increased 
between Asia and the West and East Coasts in the US, Northern 
Europe, and the Mediterranean, by at least 100 percent 
compared to the year before.

Inflation, fluctuations in exchange rates, and increases in raw 
material prices on top of supply chain disruptions have severely 
affected the performance of the manufacturing industry as a 
whole. 

The Sri Lankan economy recorded a growth of 3.7 percent in 
2021, compared to -3.6 percent in 2020. However, inconsistent 
fiscal and monetary policies caused instability in macroeconomic 
performance, and in turn, the country has failed to achieve 
sustained growth. During the latter part of the Year, some of 
the fiscal and monetary policies have resulted in the country 
experiencing its worst-ever economic crisis. Weak to outright 
bad, fiscal and monetary policy decisions have caused massive 
balance of payments (BOP) deficits and hyperinflation, 
culminating in the worst ever foreign exchange crisis the country 
has ever witnessed. This in turn has resulted in a massive power 
and energy crisis, with the country now being unable to obtain 
its daily requirement of fuel and energy for transportation 
and electricity generation while it also struggles to obtain its 
requirement of basic essentials such as cooking gas, medicines 
and all other essential imports to sustain a day-to-day living.

Company Performance
While the country and the industry attempted to regain 
normalcy from the pandemic, following extensive vaccination 
drives by the government, economic and fiscal policy decisions 
resulted in macroeconomic instability, which in turn was further 
compounded by political and social uncertainty. 

In this challenging and fast changing environment, we 
maintained our commitment to excellence which has been the 
core value we have upheld since our inception in 1984. We have 

achieved and consolidated this though our genuine drive for 
innovation through research and development. Our state-of-the-
art manufacturing facilities, efficient supply chain, competent 
and dedicated sales force, automated business processes, and 
efficient delivery service have always been our fundamental 
strengths that have steered the Company forward. 

Despite the challenges of the financial year 2021/2022, we have 
achieved a net revenue of Rs. 6.7 Bn. rupees in 2021, which is 
a 63 percent growth from last year. Profit After Tax grew by 
25 percent to Rs. 502 Mn. rupees, which is the highest profit 
recorded in the Company’s 38-year long history. 

Sector-wise Performance
Our Vision is “To be the preferred choice of the discerning 
customer for products and services in the construction 
industry”. Thus, we continue to innovate and provide 
value to our customers to ensure that we remain true to 
our Vision. We have also focused on manufacturing and 
providing products and services that are reliable, durable and 
consistent in quality. While the year under review has been 
challenging, we have remained true to our core purpose.

National PVC and HDPE
We have recorded notable growth in the sales of National 
PVC and National PE products. Significant growth was 
achieved in sales to the corporate sector construction 
companies and large tenders were secured for the supply of 
these products to the National Water Supply and Drainage 
Board. National PE products (made from High-Density 
Polyethylene) have turned out to be a success story, 
following its launch three years ago. We are now a pre-
qualified supplier of HDPE pipes and fittings to the National 
Water Supply and Drainage Board. In time to come, we 
anticipate that HDPE based products will lead in the water 
management applications across the country. 

A specialised team of highly skilled professionals caters to 
the National Water Supply and Drainage Board, Government 
institutions, and large corporates, where we provide the 
required technical knowledge on our products and support 
our customers with pre and post-supply services for large-
scale projects. 

Krypton Electrical
Krypton Electrical has achieved significant growth in the dealer 
network sector and also made considerable inroads into the 
corporate sector. Despite many challenges we have been able 
to introduce new products under the brand Krypton Pioneer, 
thereby giving consumers a wider choice for their specific needs 
and greater satisfaction. Various types of switches and sockets 
were also introduced to the market during the financial year of 
which the sensor switch is exclusive to Krypton. Additionally, 
data sockets, satellite sockets, TV sockets, and key card sockets 
were successfully introduced under the Krypton Pioneer 
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Range as well. We are in the process of introducing electrical 
accessories with the required SLS certification to further fulfill 
the requirements of the customers. 

Sales and Distribution
Our network of authorized distributors for National PVC and 
Krypton serves almost all retail hardware and electrical dealers 
throughout the country. While this traditional channel remains 
the most significant distribution method, the Company also 
directly services selected wholesalers, large scale construction 
companies and government institutions. However, customer 
behaviour patterns have evolved rapidly during the pandemic, 
with more and more customers now opting to purchase 
their requirements online. In keeping with this change we 
have developed our own e-commerce platform which can 
be accessed at C mart.nationalpvc.com. The platform is 
supported by industry-standard payment gateways, personal 
data protection technology and efficient delivery partners. 
We also recently partnered with one of the largest online B2C 
e-commerce portals operating in the country, where both 
National PVC and Krypton Electrical products can be purchased 
by customers.

Distribution costs increased significantly during the latter part 
of the year due to the rapid and frequent increases in the cost 
of fuel. While the corporate segment was adversely affected by 
rapidly increasing building material costs and high borrowing 
costs, a significant increase in supplies to the National Drainage 
and Water Supply Board has contributed to the positive growth 
achieved by the Company.

The pandemic taught us many important lessons, and the 
new normal has paved the way for us to seek new ways of 
doing business. We have respected and strictly adhered to 
guidelines stipulated by the health authorities and have been 
able to minimise the direct impact of the pandemic on our 
employees and in-person visitors to our business premises. This 
enabled us to sustain uninterrupted operations even during 
the most severe phases of the pandemic. The key drivers of 
growth for the Company are the technological enhancements 
and greater business process automation which we rapidly 
implemented. Furthermore, we have made decisions based 
on macro environmental dynamics which fuelled success in 
the dealer network. In this manner we adapted to the evolving 
environment and focused on a pragmatic approach that enabled 
positive growth and results. 

Construction Industry
Globally, the construction industry amounts to 6 percent 
of GDP and is one of the key stimulators of economic 
growth. Sri Lanka is a developing Country, the construction 
industry has a remarkable impact on economic growth 
and contributes approximately 7.1 percent of the GDP. 
This industry in particular has faced immense challenges, 
especially during the post COVID period which has resulted 
in slower growth. 

Cement is one of the key commodities for construction, 
however, due to limitations in supply, the cost has increased 
by about 155 percent. The rising cost of steel, challenges 
in importing goods due to lack of foreign currency, high 
interest rates, suspension of capital expenditure work, 
and delaying of payments for Government projects have 
impacted the industry negatively.

Quality and Standards
Central Industries’  “National PVC”  was the first PVC brand 
in Sri Lanka to receive SLS 147 for uPVC pipes in 1987 and SLS 
659 for uPVC fittings in 1997. The Company was also the first 
PVC pipe and fittings manufacturer in Sri Lanka to be awarded 
the ISO 9001 Quality Management System certification. We 
have also received the WRAS certification from the UK for 
our HDPE pipes. Krypton Electrical switches and sockets 
are renowned for superior quality, reliability and safety. Gang 
switches are certified in compliance with SLS 1000 and 13 Amp 
electrical switched sockets are certified in compliance with SLS 
734.

As always our key to success is the dedicated team of 
professionals who aim to achieve excellence in every aspect of 
the product and customer service and build confidence in our 
products and services amongst all our valuable customers and 
business partners.

Human Resources
Our employees have been a pillar of strength, continuing with 
daily operations with determination amidst great challenges to 
reach our goals. They have been pivotal to the success of the 
Company. 

We ensure that all our HR policies are compliant with all 
governing statutes of the country, and are also in the best 
interest of our employees in order to maintain a conducive and 
happy working environment.

We have always ensured that our employees are treated well, 
with appropriate remunerations, and also opportunities for skills 
development and training together with career growth. We are 
focused on attracting the best talent for our team so that we 
can serve diverse customer segments across the island. 

Our performance-oriented culture is founded on the principles 
of ethics and transparency, thereby allowing our employees to 
perform to the best of their abilities. Dedication, integrity and 
competency are key attributes of our employees that prepare 
them for the next level of operational excellence. We are an 
organization that respects inclusivity, diversity and equality, and 
thus we have employees from diverse backgrounds, ethnicities 
and religions. We all strive towards one common goal, and we 
do so together.
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Central Industries PLC’s flagship brands are National PVC and Krypton. A range of water management products is marketed 
under the brand National PVC; in addition, the electrical category is marketed under the Krypton brand. electrical category 
marketed under the Krypton brand.

The portfolio of National PVC includes pressure water management system, sewerage, and drainage system, and rainwater 
management system. A range of accessories is also marketed under the brand National PVC which are ball valves, garden 
hoses, rigid and flexible electrical conduits, trunking products and etc.., . There are complementary accessories marketed 
under the brand of Ciltec, Aquatec, and uPVC, while valance boards are marketed under the Greenwood brand.  Water tanks 
are marketed under National PE, and stainless steel water tanks are marketed under the brand name of National SS.

The company also markets HDPE (PE) pipes and fittings under the brand of National PE brand. The sizes of the pipes start 
from 20 mm to 450 mm.

Krypton N series switches and sockets, rigid and flexible electrical conduits, trunking, sunk boxes are manufactured in Sri 
Lanka. Krypton Pioneer range-wide dolly series are imported and marketed by the company. Some of the products are 
assembled in Sri Lanka. Consumers of Krypton electrical switches and sockets are offered a lifetime warranty. A range of 
switchgear products are also in the product portfolio of Krypton electrical.

PRODUCT PROFILE 
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“National PVC” Pipes and Fittings
For more than three decades “National PVC” has been 
in the forefront of providing the best and most reliable 
solutions for consumers’ water management requirements. 
“National PVC” was the pioneer PVC brand in Sri Lanka 
to obtain SLS certification for uPVC pipes and fittings. 
Certified under SLS 147 and SLS 659, the brand set the 
standards for uPVC products in Sri Lanka. The brand has 
earned the respect of key stakeholders as one of the most 
trusted providers of reliable, high quality products for 
domestic users as well as large scale infrastructure projects.

“National PE” Pipes and Fittings
“National PE” High Density Polyethylene (HDPE) pipes 
and fittings is the latest in technological advancement in 
water management solutions. Introduced to the Sri Lanka 
market in 2017, these products are certified under SLS 
1498 and SLS 1499 for pipes and fittings respectively. All 
raw material used in the manufacture of these products are 
certified under the Water Regulations Approval Scheme 
(WRAS) of the United Kingdom. “National PE” pipes and 
fittings are pre-qualified by the National Water Supply 
and Drainage Board for use on all major infrastructure 
projects undertaken by the Board. Large scale construction 
contractors too, rely on “National PE” pipes and fittings for 
their high-end plumbing applications.

“Krypton Electrical” products
“Krypton Electrical” products are manufactured under 
stringent quality management systems. These products are 
certified in compliance with all mandatory SLS standards 
or are guaranteed to comply with international standards 
wherever local standards are not available. “Krypton 
Electrical - N Series” products are manufactured in Sri 
Lanka and while electrical switch-gear are imported and 
marketed in Sri Lanka under the “Krypton” and “Onesto” 
brand names. A premium range of domestic use switches 
and sockets are also imported and locally assembled under 
the “Krypton Pioneer” range of products which are available 
in several attractive shades. Several innovative products 
were introduced into the market under this range during the 
last financial year.
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“National PVC” Solvent Cement
“National PVC” Solvent Cement is another high quality 
plumbing solution for PVC welding applications. The 
product is certified under SLS 935.

“National PE” and “National SS” 
Storage Tanks 
Central Industries pioneered the manufacturing of stainless 
steel storage tanks in Sri Lanka under the brand name 
“National SS” more than two decades ago. “National SS” 
storage tanks are ideal for storing water for domestic use or 
edible oil for industrial applications and provide an assurance 
of a hygienic storage solution. “National PE” water storage 
tanks are manufactured using the highest quality food grade 
Polyethylene material. 

“National PVC” Premium Garden Hose
“National PVC” premium garden hoses provide the 
ideal combination of durability and flexibility to provide 
consumers with years of trouble free use and the highest 
level of satisfaction. The products are available in three 
attractive colour choices and in 15 mtr and 30 mtr lengths to 
suit user needs.

PRODUCT PROFILE 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Company’s Corporate Social Responsibility 
initiatives are aligned with three key pillars for a stable 
and just society, viz.  
1. An educated and civic-minded future generation,  
2. Social equity through the upliftment of 
underprivileged sections of the community and 
3. Preservation of our cultural heritage. 
Projects are guided by the CSR steering committee 
including the top management. Despite the challenges 
arising from the unstable macroeconomic environment, 
we undertook and completed several CSR programs 
throughout the year.
  

 CSR Strategy 

Helping future 
generations

Preserve the culture
 / Heritage

Community 
development

It has been our priority to contribute to the betterment of society by providing assistance that will benefit communities in the 
long term. During this financial year, we focused on helping school children through various initiatives, as well as taking part in 
cultural events. 
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Water Projects for Schools
National PVC concluded three CSR projects with the Sri Lanka Army. The community-care program focused on providing 
drinking water facilities to three schools established in the Oddusuddan area. This project was inaugurated on November 
2021 under the patronage of General Officer Commanding - 64 Division.

1. Water Supply project for Kalugahathenne School, Delwita, Rideegama, Kurunegala.

2. A water management system was donated to Matara, Ginnaliya Maha Vidyalaya, Uru Bokka in collaboration with the Leo 
Club.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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3. Offering  stationery for a schoolgoing child in the Kandy area.

4. Safe school project in partnership with the Rotaract Club of Institute of Information Technology, Colombo.  The project 
was officially handed over to Henry Olcott Vidyalaya, Kolonnawa and also completed in nine other schools in Colombo and 
Suburbs.

5.    Assistance to Preserve the Culture
 ▲ Lighting of Sri Jinendraramaya, Warapalana, Yakkala during the Katina Pinkama
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 ▲ The lighting of Varnagala Temple, Kuruvita, Sri Padaya for the third consecutive year with Manusath Derana. 

6. Plumber and electrician training programs to uplift professional knowledge

7. Stationery items were distributed to children of low-income families in Malwathuhiripitiya, Narammala, Uruwalperuwa, 
Karagahamuna, and Mahara.

8. Donated stationery items to Malwathugoda, Rivisanda College, Kegalle.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Exhibitions
 ▲ Kedella exhibition held in March 2022 at BMICH.

 ▲ Platinum sponsor for the National Water Supply & Drainage Board and the Research Unit of the University of Peradeniya 
joint symposium. The event was held in the R & D Division of the University of Peradeniya.

OUTDOOR HOARDINGS

MARKETING
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AWARDS

Central Industries PLC received the prestigious award of National Business Excellence in the Construction Sector, presented 
by The National Chamber of Commerce of Sri Lanka (NCCSL) for its excellence in strategy, leadership, corporate governance, 
capacity building, performance management, market reach, corporate social responsibility & environmental sustainability as 
well as business & financial results.

 ▲ Central Industries received Merit award from Ceylon National Chamber of Industries Achievers Awards 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors

Board Appointed Committees

Remuneration
Committee

Steering
Committees

Related Party
Transactions

Review
Committee

Audit
Committee

Internal
Audit

� Credit Risk
� Market Risk
� Operational Risk
� Information Systems Risk
� Reputational Risk
� Internal Controls
� Compliance Monitoring
� Legal & Regulatory Requirements
� Human Resource Management

Risk Management &
Control Functions

� Credit Committee
� IT Steering Committee
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The Board of Directors of the Company believes good 
corporate governance is the cornerstone of strong business 
performance. Corporate governance policies and practices 
of the Company have been designed to ensure that the 
Company is focused on its responsibilities to its stakeholders 
and on creating long term shareholder value. Therefore, we 
continue to review and find ways to improve our Board’s 
effectiveness in this regard.

The Board is committed to ensuring that it complies with 
the specific requirements under the rules set out in Section 
7.10 of the Colombo Stock Exchange’s Listing Rules. The 
table on pages 27 to 29 set out the manner of compliance 
with these rules. The Board also recognizes the Code of 
Best Practice on Corporate Governance issued jointly by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and the 
Securities and Exchange Commission as useful guidance in 
improving corporate governance.

Board of Directors
The Board is headed by the Chairman who is a Non-
Executive Director., and consisted of seven Non-Executive 
Directors and one Executive Director as at 31st March 2022. 
The names and profiles of the Directors are given on pages 
10 and 11.

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy, Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe and Mr. D.T.R. De 
Silva are Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Board met once in a calendar quarter. Details of the 
meetings and individual attendance are given below.

Member No. of Meetings

Mr. G.S.N. Peiris 4
Mr. E.H. Wijenaike 2
Mr. C.S.W. De Costa 4
Mr. A.K. Gunaratne 4
Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe 4
Mr. A. Hettiarachchy 4
Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi 4
Mr. D.T.R. De Silva                                 4
Mr. I.M.P Rupatunge 4

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises four Non-Executive 
Directors, namely:

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy
(Chairman of the Committee)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne
 Non-Executive Director

Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva
Independent Non-Executive Director

The Internal Audit Manager functions as the Secretary 
to the Committee. The Chief Executive Officer and the 
Manager – Finance are invitees to the meetings of the Audit 
Committee. The Committee is empowered to examine 
any matter relating to the financial affairs of the Company 
and its internal and external audits. Its duties include 
detailed reviews of the Financial Statements, internal 
control procedures, accounting policies, compliance with 
accounting standards, emerging accounting issues and 
such other related functions as the Board may require. It 
also recommends the appointment and fees of the external 
auditors. It also keeps under review the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors. The detailed Audit 
Committee Report including the areas reviewed during the 
financial year 2021/22 is given on pages 30 and 31 of the 
Annual Report.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises five Non-
Executive Directors, three of whom are independent.

Mr. G.S.N.Peiris (Chairman of the Committee) 
Non-Executive Director

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne
Non-Executive Director

Ms.I.S.Jayasinghe
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva
Independent Non-Executive Director

The Chief Executive Officer of the Company assists the 
Committee, except when his own remuneration package is 
deliberated. The Report of the Remuneration Committee is 
given on page 32 of the Annual Report.
 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Compliance with Colombo Stock Exchange Rules on Corporate Governance
The table below sets out the relevant Colombo Stock Exchange Rules on Corporate Governance and the manner in which the 
Company complies with them.

Rule No Subject Applicable Requirement Compliance Status Details

7.10.1(a) Composition of the 
Board

The Board shall comprise of at 
least two Non-Executive Directors 
(NEDs) or one third of the total 
number of Directors as NEDs 
whichever is higher.

Compliant Eight Directors are  
Non-Executive Directors

7.10.2(a) Composition of 
Independent Directors

Minimum of two Directors or one 
third of the NEDs whichever is 
higher should be independent.

Compliant Three of the Eight  
Non-Executive Directors 
are independent

7.10.2(b) Declaration of 
Independence/ None 
Independence

Each Non-Executive Director 
to submit a signed and dated 
declaration annually of his/ her 
independence / non-independence 
against the specified criteria.

Compliant All Non-Executive 
Directors have submitted 
the Declaration of 
Independence /  
Non-independence

7.10.3(a) Disclosure relating to 
Directors

The Names of Directors who are 
deemed to be independent as per 
the criteria to be disclosed in the 
Annual Report.

Compliant Disclosed on page 37.

7.10.3(b) Determination on 
Independence

The board shall specify if the 
criteria for independence is not met 
by a director and the basis for its 
determination in the annual report.

All independent Non-Executive Directors meet 
the criteria.

7.10.3(c) Disclosure relating to 
Directors

A brief resume of the Director 
which includes on the nature of his/ 
her expertise in relevant functional 
areas.

Compliant Disclosed on pages 10 
and 11

7.10.3(d) The new appointment of 
directors

A brief resume of the newly 
appointed directors should 
be provided to the CSE for 
dissemination to the public

Compliant The company has 
furnished to CSE a 
brief resume of a newly 
appointed director for 
dissemination to the 
public.

7.10.5 Remuneration 
Committee

A listed company shall have a 
Remuneration Committee.

Compliant Disclosed on page 26

7.10.5(a) Composition of  
the Remuneration 
Committee

The Remuneration Committee 
Shall comprise of Non-Executive 
Directors a majority of whom can 
be independent.

Compliant The Committee 
comprises five  
Non-Executive Directors, 
three of whom are 
independent.

One Non-Executive Director shall 
be appointed as Chairman of 
the committee by the Board of 
Directors.

Compliant The Chairman of the 
committee is a  
Non-Executive Director-
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Rule No Subject Applicable Requirement Compliance Status Details

7.10.5(b) Functions of the 
Remuneration 
Committee

The Remuneration Committee shall 
recommend the remuneration of 
the Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Directors.

Compliant The Committee 
recommends the 
remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer / 
Executive Director

7.10.5(c) Disclosure in the 
Annual Report relating 
to the Remuneration 
Committee

The Annual Report should set out:

a) Names of Directors comprising 
the Remuneration Committee

Compliant Disclosed on page 26

b) Statement of Remuneration 
Policy-

Compliant Disclosed on page 32

c) Aggregate remuneration paid 
to Executive & Non-Executive 
Directors

Compliant Disclosed on page 40

7.10.6 Audit Committee The Company shall have an Audit 
Committee.

Compliant Disclosed on page 26

7.10.6(a) Composition of the 
Audit Committee

Shall comprise of Non-Executive 
Directors a majority of whom shall 
be independent.

Compliant The committee 
comprises four Non-
Executive Directors, 
three of whom are 
independent.

Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer should 
attend Audit Committee meetings.

Compliant The Chief Executive 
Officer and the Manager-
Finance attend Audit 
Committee meetings

The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee or one member should 
be a member of a professional 
accounting body.

Compliant Three members of 
the Committee are 
members of professional 
accounting bodies.

7.10.6(b) Audit Committee 
Functions

Should be as outlined in the listing 
rules

Compliant Disclosed on page 26

7.10.6(c) Disclosure in the Annual 
Report relating to the 
Audit Committee

a) Names of Directors comprising 
the Audit Committee-

Compliant Disclosed on page 26

b) The Audit Committee shall 
make a determination of the 
independence of the Auditors 
and disclose the basis for such 
determination-

Compliant Disclosed on pages 30 
and 31

c) The Annual Report shall contain 
a report of the Audit Committee 
setting out the manner of 
compliance by the Company-

Compliant Disclosed on pages 30 
and 31

9.2.1 Related Party 
Transaction Review 
Committee (RPTRC)

Reviewing of Related Party 
Transactions (RPT) except 
transaction mentioned under 
rule 9.5 should be carried out by 
the committee prior to entering/ 
completion of the transaction

Compliant Disclosed on page 33

9.2.2 Composition of the 
RPTRC 

Shall comprise of Non-Executive 
Directors and Independent Non-
Executive Directors at the option of 
the company and the Chairman of 
the RPTRC shall be an Independent 
Non-Executive Director (INED)

Compliant There are five Non-
Executive Directors 
of whom three are 
independent.

The chairman is an INED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Rule No Subject Applicable Requirement Compliance Status Details

9.2.4 Frequency of Meeting The Committee shall meet at 
least once a calendar quarter. The 
committee shall ensure that the 
minutes of all meetings are properly 
documented and communicated to 
the board of directors. 

Compliant Disclosed on page 33

9.3.1 Immediate disclosure Any non-recurrent Related Party 
Transaction with a value exceeding 
10% of the Equity or 5% of the total 
assets whichever is lower, or if the 
aggregate value of all non-recurrent 
Related Party Transactions entered 
into with the same related party 
during the same financial year 
amounts to 10% of the equity or 
5% of the total assets of the equity 
as per the latest Audited Financial 
Statements.   

Any subsequent non-recurrent 
transaction after it exceeds 5% 
of equity entered with the same 
related party

Compliant No transactions arose 
during the financial 
year which required 
immediate disclosure.

9.3.2 Disclosure in the Annual 
Report 

a. Non- Recurrent Related party 
transactions 

Compliant Disclosed on pages 91 
and 92

b. Recurrent Related party 
transactions

Disclosed on pages 91 
and 92

c. Report of the RPTRC Disclosed on page 33
d. An affirmative Statement by 

the Directors that they are 
in compliance with the rules 
pertaining to RPT

Disclosed on pages 33

Compliance with Colombo Stock 
Exchange Rules on Related Party 
Transactions
The Related Party Transaction Review comprises the 
following persons:

Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe (Chairperson of the Committee)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne
Non-Executive Director

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva
Independent Non-Executive Director 

The Manager – Finance functions as the Secretary to the 
Committee.

The Report of the Related Party Transaction Review 
Committee is given on page 33

The Board of Directors declares that the Company has 
complied with the requirements of the Colombo Stock 
Exchange Rules on Related Party Transactions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Board of Directors chaired by an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and comprising exclusively of Non-Executive 
Directors to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
in relation to financial reporting, internal controls and risk 
management system compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, internal audit, and external audit related affairs 
of the Company.

Audit Committee Composition
The Audit Committee is comprised of four Non-Executive 
Directors of whom three are Independent Directors.
The following Board members represented the Audit 
Committee as at 31st March 2022: 

Member Status

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy Chairman IND/NED
Mr. A.K. Gunaratne NED
Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe IND/NED
Mr. D.T.R. de Silva IND/NED

(IND-Independent Director, NED- Non-Executive Director)

Brief Profiles of the members are given on pages 10 and 
11  of the Annual Report under the Board of Directors. The 
Manager-Internal Audit functions as Secretary to the Audit 
Committee.

Meetings of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee met four times during the year. The 
attendance of the members at Audit Committee Meetings 
was as follows:

Member Status No. of Meetings

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy IND/NED 4

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne NED 4

Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe IND/NED 4

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva IND/NED 4

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Manager-
Finance, also attended these meetings by invitation as and 
when required. On the invitation of the Audit Committee, 
Company’s External Auditor, M/s. KPMG (Chartered 
Accountants) attended two Audit Committee meetings 
during the year. Proceedings of the Audit Committee 
meetings are reported regularly to the Board of Directors.

Role of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in 
fulfilling its responsibilities effectively relating to oversight 
over financial reporting, internal controls, and external 
and internal audit related affairs of the Company. The 
Committee has been empowered to:

 ▲ Examine internally any matter relating to the financial 
affairs of the Company.

 ▲ Review and follow up the work carried out by both 
Internal Auditors and External Auditors and follow up on 
findings and recommendations arising from thereon.

 ▲ Review risk management measures and examine the 
adequacy, efficiency, and effectiveness of the Internal 
Control System over financial reporting.

 ▲ Review accounting policies, emerging accounting 
issues and disclosures relating to Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (LKAS)/Sri Lanka Financial Reporting 
Standards (SLFRS).

 ▲ Review the compliance of financial reporting obligations 
under the Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) listing rules, 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) and the Companies Act No.7 of 2007.

 ▲ Review and recommend Interim and Annual Financial 
Statements for approval of the Board and submission to 
shareholders.

Review the policy on the engagement of an external auditor 
to provide non-audit services that are permitted under the 
relevant statutes, regulations, requirements, and guidelines.

Financial Reporting
The Committee assisted the Board of Directors to discharge 
its responsibility for the preparation of the quarterly and 
annual Financial Statements to reflect a true and fair view 
of the affairs of the Company in accordance with the 
Company’s accounting records and in conformity with the 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, the Companies Act No.7 of 
2007, rules and regulations of CSE and SEC.

The Committee reviewed the Company’s interim and annual 
Financial Statements prior to submission to the Board and 
recommended their issue to shareholders.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal controls on the 
financial reporting system in place to ensure the reliability 
and integrity of the information provided. Their view 
included the extent of compliance with LKAS/SLFRS and 
applicable laws and regulations, review of critical accounting 
policies and practices and any changes thereto, alternative 
accounting treatments, going concern assumptions major 
judgmental areas and material audit judgments.
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The Committee reviewed the circulars, directions and 
guidelines issued by CSE/ SEC and CA – Sri Lanka in relation 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluated the forecast 
presented by the management on the continuity of the 
business operations including profitability and liquidity.

External Audit
The Audit Committee is empowered by the Board to 
recommend the appointment of the External Auditor in 
compliance with the relevant statutes issued by the CSE 
and the best practices of Corporate Governance and to 
agree on their audit fee, service period, and recommend 
the re-appointment or change of the External Auditor. 
The Committee was satisfied that there is no cause to 
compromise the independence and objectivity of the 
Auditor.

The Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the audit 
processes in accordance with applicable standards and best 
practices.

The external auditor’s letter of engagement including 
the scope of the audit was reviewed and discussed by 
the Committee with the external auditors prior to the 
commencement of the audit.

The annual Financial Statements 2021/22 were reviewed 
with the External Auditor and recommended for the 
approval of the Board. Their Management Letter and 
management’s responses thereto were also reviewed.

The Committee also met with the External Auditor at a 
meeting without the presence of management to discuss 
whether there have been any irregularities, constraints, 
reservations, or any other unsatisfactory matters arising 
from the audit that the Auditor wished to discuss with the 
Audit Committee.

The Committee assisted the Board of Directors in engaging 
the External Auditor for non- audit services in compliance 
with the statutes and ensured that engagement in non-audit 
services does not impair the external auditor’s independence 
and objectivity.

Risks and Internal Controls
The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s operations 
and monitored the effectiveness of internal controls and 
procedures and is of the view that adequate controls and 
procedures are in place to provide reasonable assurance to 
the Board that the assets of the Company are safeguarded 
and the Financial Statements present a true and fair view.

Internal Audit
During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the 
adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the 
internal audit division, the results of the internal audit 
process and their evaluation of the Company’s internal 
control system. The Audit Committee also reviewed and 
approved the adequacy of coverage of the internal audit 
program.

Regulatory Compliance
The Audit Committee reviewed the information requirement 
of Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, and other reporting 
requirements under SEC, CSE.

(Sgd.)
A. Hettiarachchy
Chairman
Audit Committee
10th June 2022 
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REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises five Non-
Executive Directors of the Company, three of whom are 
independent. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
assists the Committee by providing relevant information and 
participates in its analysis and deliberations, except when his 
own compensation package is reviewed. 

The Committee meets once a year to decide the 
compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, and the fee 
of Non- Executive Directors. In addition, they lay down 
guidelines and parameters for the compensation structure 
of all management staff.

The primary objective of compensation packages is to 
attract and retain a qualified and experienced workforce. 
These packages are aimed at providing compensation 
appropriate for the industry and commensurate with each 
employee’s level of experience and contribution, bearing 
in mind the Company’s performance and long-term 
shareholder returns.

The Committee reviews the Company’s compensation 
structures from time to time to ensure alignment with 
strategic priorities and comparison with those offered by 
other similar entities.

(Sgd.)
G. S. N. Peiris
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
10th June 2022
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REPORT OF THE RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTION REVIEW COMMITTEE
The Related Party Transaction Review Committee 
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors and 
one Non-Executive Director.

Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe (Chairperson of the Committee)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva
Independent Non-Executive Director 

The Manager - Finance functions as the Secretary to the 
Committee.

Meetings of the Committee
The Committee met four times during the financial year to 
review related party transactions and the proceedings of the 
committee meetings are reported to the Board. Details of 
individual member attendance are given below.

Member Status No. of Meetings

Ms. I. S. Jayasinghe INED 4
Mr. A. K. Gunaratne NED 4
Mr. A. Hettiarachchy INED 4
Mr. D.T.R. de Silva INED 4

The Committee ensured that the management has 
implemented a process to identify and report proposed 
transactions with related parties. The Committee obtained 
all required information on such transactions, including 
but not limited to other unaffiliated sources of comparable 
products or services and the terms offered by such parties, 
from the Director/CEO and senior managers of the 
Company. 

Wherever required the Committee could also obtain advice 
from competent independent professionals in ascertaining 
the value of assets acquired from or disposed to related 
parties.

The Committee reviewed all recurrent and non-recurrent 
transactions and proposed transactions with related 
parties. During the period under review, there were no 
non-recurrent or recurrent related party transactions that 
exceeded the threshold referred to in the Listing Rules of 
the Colombo Stock Exchange. 

The Committee made recommendations to the Board 
wherever approval of the Board was required to proceed 
with such related party transactions and also set guidelines 
for the senior management to follow with regard to on-
going related party transactions. 

DECLARATION BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS-
During the Year, the Company did not have any related party 
transactions which required the approval of the shareholders 
or immediate market disclosure under the rules. The related 
party transactions are disclosed in note 33 on pages 91 and 
92 of the Financial Statements.

(Sgd.)
I.S. Jayasinghe
Chairperson
Related Party Transactions Review Committee
10th June 2022
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ANNUAL REPORT OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors have the pleasure of presenting to the 
Members their report together with the Audited Financial 
Statements of Central Industries PLC and the Group for the 
year ended 31st March 2022.

REVIEW OF THE YEAR’S 
PERFORMANCE
The Chairman’s Review describes the Company’s progress 
and highlights important events during the year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of the Company is the manufacture 
and distribution of Pipes and Fittings for domestic and 
industrial use. The Company also manufactures and 
distributes Electrical Switches, Sockets and Accessories, and 
markets other products used in the construction industry. 
The wholly owned subsidiary companies Central Industries 
Marketing (Pvt) Ltd. and Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Ltd. did 
not carry out any business activity during the year.

PARENT ENTERPRISE
The Company’s parent and ultimate parent enterprise are 
Central Finance Company PLC.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
The twenty largest shareholders of the Company as at 31st 
March 2022 are given on page 111 together with an analysis 
of the shareholdings. As at that date the Company had 2,327 
shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
Financial Statements of the Company so that it reflects a 
true and fair view of the state of its affairs. The Directors 
are of the view that these Financial Statements have been 
prepared in conformity with the requirements of the Sri 
Lanka Accounting Standards, the Companies Act No. 07 of 
2007 and the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Financial Statements of the Company and the Group are given on pages 46 to 107.

Group Company

2021/22
Rs.’000s

2020/21
Rs.’000s

2021/22
Rs.’000s

2020-21
Rs.’000s’

Revenue 6,731,883 4,122,942 6,731,883 4,122,942

Profit before tax for the year after providing for bad debts, 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and all known 
liabilities 675,638 469,298 675,489 469,190

Provision for taxation (173,544) (66,185) (173,497) (66,153)

Profit for the year after taxation 502,094 403,113 501,992 403,037

DIVIDENDS
The Directors recommend the payment of a first and final 
dividend of Rs 5/-  per ordinary share by way of scrip 
dividend for the year ended 31st March 2022. This will be 
paid out of the taxable profit of the Company. As required 
by section 56(2) of the Companies Act No.7 of 2007, the 
Directors confirm that the Company satisfies the solvency 
test in terms of section 57 of the Act and that the Company 
has obtained a certificate from the Auditors to this effect.

TAXATION
The rate of corporate tax applicable to Central Industries 
PLC and its subsidiaries are 14%, 18% and 24%.

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group invested Rs. 74,174,341/- in property, plant & 
equipment during the year. The movement in property 
plant and equipment during the year is given in Note 13 
to the Financial Statements. The movement in intangible 
assets during the year is given in Note 14 to the Financial 
Statements.

PUBLIC HOLDINGS
Public Holding of the Company as at 31st March 2022 was 
46.72% Comprising 10,180,670 shares and a float adjusted 
market capitalization of Rs.998,637,487/-. In terms of rule 
7.14.1.(a) of the listing rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange, 
the Company qualifies under option five of the minimum 
public holding requirement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Company’s 
Act No.07 of 2007 and Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
applicable for the current accounting period and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 
previous year.

STATUTORY PAYMENTS
The Directors are satisfied that statutory payments due to 
the Government and in relation to the employees have been 
made in full and on time to the best of their knowledge and 
belief.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 
PERIOD
There have been no material post balance sheet events that 
would require adjustment to, or disclosure other than as 
stated in Note 32 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS
During the year, donations to charities of Rs. 504,864/-were 
made by the Company.

HUMAN RESOURCES
Employment policies of the company are based on recruiting 
the best available people, training them to enhance their 
skills and offering equal career opportunities regardless of 
gender, race or religion. There were no issues pertaining 
to employees and industrial relations pertaining to the 
company that occurred during the year under review 
requiring disclosure.

STATED CAPITAL
The Stated Capital of the Company as at 31st March 2022 
was Rs. 284,912,402/- and is represented by 21,788,936 
ordinary shares.

GOING CONCERN
The Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the Financial Statements. The Directors, after 
making inquiries and following a review of the Company’s 
budget for 2022/23, including cash flows and borrowing 
facilities, consider that the Company has adequate resources 
to continue in operation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company as at 31st March 2022 were:

Non - Executive Directors

Mr. G. S. N. Peiris – Chairman
Mr. E. H. Wijenaike
Mr. A. K. Gunaratne
Mr. C. S. W. De Costa
Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi

Executive Director

Mr. I.M.P Rupatunge

Independent Non - Executive Directors

Ms. I. S. Jayasinghe
Mr. A. Hettiarachchy
Mr. D.T.R.de Silva

RE-ELECTIONS TO THE BOARD
Mr. A. Hettiarachchi has passed the age limit referred 
to in Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007. 
His appointment as a Director of the Company requires 
the approval of a resolution of the Company in a general 
meeting. A notice is duly given by the Company that in 
terms of Section 211 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, a 
resolution will be proposed that the age limit referred to in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, shall not 
apply to Mr. A. Hettiarachchi who has reached the age of 73 
years.

Ms, I.S.Jayasinghe has passed the age limit referred to in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007. Her 
appointment as a Director of the Company requires the 
approval of a resolution of the Company at a General 
Meeting. A notice is duly given by the Company that in 
terms of Section 211 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, a 
resolution will be proposed that the age limit referred to in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, shall not 
apply to Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe who has reached the age of 74 
years.

Mr. C.S.W. De Costa has passed the age limit referred to 
in Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007. His 
appointment as a Director of the Company requires the 
approval of a resolution of the Company at a General 
Meeting. A notice is duly given by the Company that in 
terms of Section 211 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, a 
resolution will be proposed that the age limit referred to in 
Section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, shall not 
apply to Mr. C.S.W.De Costa who has reached the age of 70 
years.
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In terms of Article 85 of the Articles of Association, 
Directors Mr. E.H. Wijenaike and Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi are 
due to retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting are being eligible to offer themselves for re-
election.

DETERMINATION OF INDEPENDENCE 
[RULE NO. 7.10.3(B)]
The board has determined that Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe who has 
served on the board for more than nine (09) years, is an 
independent director since she is not directly involved in the 
management of the company.

The board, having considered the above, has resolved 
that Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe is an independent director 
notwithstanding the fact that she has served on the 
Board for more than nine (09) years and that she should 
continue in office as it is beneficial to the Company and its 
shareholders

AUDITORS
The Financial Statements for the year have been audited 
by KPMG Chartered Accountants, who offer themselves for 
re-appointment.

The remuneration of the Auditors is disclosed in Note 9 to 
the consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, the Auditors were paid Rs. 200,000/- for work 
not directly related to the audit of the Financial Statements, 
and consisted mainly of opinions expressed in relation to the 
solvency certificate required in the distribution of dividends 
of the Company.

As far as the Directors are aware, the Auditors do not have 
any other relationship with the Company other than as 
disclosed above.

The retiring auditors have expressed their willingness 
to continue in office. A resolution to re-appoint them 
as auditors and authorizing the Directors to fix their 
remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

The Audit Committee reviewed the appointment of the 
auditors, their effectiveness and relationship with the Group 
including the level of audit and non-audit fees paid to the 
Auditor.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS
The Company has not engaged in any activities contravening 
laws and regulations. All officers responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the provisions of various laws and 
regulations confirm their compliance to the Board on a 
monthly basis.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
The Directors’ interests in transactions with the Company are disclosed in the Interests Register and in Note 33 to the 
Financial Statements. The Company carried out transactions during the year in the ordinary course of its business at 
commercial rates with the following related entities.

Name of the Company 
and Relationship Name of Directors Position Nature of Transactions

Central Finance Co. 
PLC (Parent Company)

Mr. E. H. Wijenaike Managing Director Interest earned from short term deposits - 
Rs 25,072/- (2020/21 – Rs. 201,176/-)

Short term deposits as at 31st March 2022 -  
Rs. 557,136/- (2020/21 - Rs. 532,064 /-)

Mr. A. K. Gunaratne Director
Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchy Director

CF Insurance Brokers 
(Pvt) Ltd. (Fellow 
Subsidiary)

Mr. G. S. N. Peiris Chairman The Company has paid total premia of Rs. 2.88 Mn. 
(2020/21 - Rs. 3.80 Mn.) to insurers during the year. 
CF Insurance Brokers (Pvt) Ltd is entitled to an 
agency/brokerage commission on such premia paid by 
the Company.

Mr. A. K. Gunaratne Director
Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi Director

Tivoli Plastics (Pvt.) Ltd. 
(An Enterprise owned 
by a Director)

Mr. C. S. W. De Costa Director Manufacture of PVC Fittings under agreement with 
the Company. The cost of services obtained during 
the year was Rs. 17.61 Mn. (2020/21 - Rs. 16.42 Mn..)

ANNUAL REPORT OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Name of the Company 
and Relationship Name of Directors Position Nature of Transactions

Amano Construction 
(Pvt.) Ltd. (An 
Enterprise owned by a 
Director)

Mr. C. S. W. De Costa Director Building Construction cost during the period - 
Rs. 11.65 Mn. (2020-21 - Nil).

Advances proceed for two material storage buildings 
- Rs. 50 Mn.s

Central Industries 
Marketing (Pvt.) Ltd. 
(A wholly owned 
subsidiary)

Mr. I.M.P. Rupatunge Director Funds advanced by the subsidiary to Central Industries 
PLC, repayable on demand.

Amount due to the subsidiary - Rs 5.32 Mn.. (2020/21 
- Rs. 5.23 Mn.)

Rs. 260,794/- has been paid as interest on the above 
funds during the year. (2020/21 - Rs. 356,668/-)

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne Director

Polymer Technologies 
(Pvt) Ltd. (A wholly 
owned subsidiary)

Mr. I.M.P. Rupatunge Director Funds advanced by the subsidiary to Central Industries 
PLC, repayable on demand.

Amount due to the subsidiary - Rs. 1.07 Mn. (2020/21 
– Rs. 1.14 Mn.)

Rs 54,920/- has been paid as interest on the above 
funds during the year. (2020/21 - Rs. 82,544/-)

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne Director

The Directors had no direct or indirect interests in any other 
contract or proposed contract in relation to the business of 
the Company.

INTERESTS REGISTER
The Interests Register is maintained by the Company as per 
the Companies Act No.07 of 2007.

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS
No.of shares held as at

31st March
2022

1st April
2021

Mr. E.H. Wijenaike 39,694 37,706

Mr. G.S.N. Peiris 6 6

Mr. C.S.W. De Costa - -

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne - -

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy - -

Ms. I.S. Jayasinghe - -

Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchy - -

Mr. D.T.R. de Silva - 4,188

Mr. I.M.P. Rupatunge - -

The shareholdings of entities in which the Directors have 
controlling interest:

No.of shares held as at

31st March
2022

1st April
2021

Central Finance Company PLC 9,599,828 9,118,835

CF Insurance Brokers (Pvt) Ltd. 1,244,703 1,182,338

CF Growth Fund Ltd. 39,682 37,694

Expanded Plastic Products Ltd. 7,109 6753

Tivoli Lanka (Pvt) Ltd. 677,244 643,312

During the year ended 31st March 2022;

Mr. E.H. Wijenaike, Mr. A.K. Gunaratne and  
Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi were Directors of Central Finance 
Company PLC.

Mr. G.S.N. Peiris was a Chairman of the CF Insurance Broker 
(Pvt) Ltd

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne and Mr. C.S. Hettiarachchi were Directors 
of CF Insurance Brokers (Pvt.) Ltd. Mr. E.H. Wijenaike 
exercised significant control over CF Insurance Brokers 
(Pvt.) Ltd. through direct / indirect voting power.
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Mr. A.K. Gunaratne was a  Director of the CF Growth Fund 
Ltd. 

Mr. E.H. Wijenaike exercised significant control over CF 
Growth Fund Ltd. through direct / indirect voting power.

Mr. G.S.N. Peiris was Director of Finance at Central Finance 
Company PLC and relinquished his duties on 30th June 
2021.

Mr. C.S.W. De Costa was a Director of Tivoli Lanka (Pvt.) Ltd.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
Remuneration of the Directors is disclosed in Note 9 to the 
consolidated Financial Statements.

The aggregate remuneration received by the Directors 
during the year under review was:

2021/22 2020/21

Rs. Rs.

Executive Directors 17,663,000 6,040,950

Non-Executive Directors 2,587,000 1,066,050

For and on behalf of the Board,

(Sgd.) (Sgd.)
G.S.N. Peiris I.M.P. Rupatunge
Chairman Director/CEO

(Sgd.)
Corporate Services (Pvt.) Ltd.
Secretaries

Colombo
10th June 2022

ANNUAL REPORT OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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STATEMENT OF 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The following statement sets out the responsibilities of 
the Directors of the Company in the preparation of the 
Financial Statements of the Company. These differ from 
the responsibilities of the Auditors which are set out in their 
report appearing on page 43. The Companies Act No. 07 of 
2007 requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements 
for each financial year giving a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and 
of the Profit or Loss of the Company for that financial year.

In preparing the Financial Statements, appropriate 
accounting policies have been selected and applied 
consistently, reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates have been made and applicable accounting 
standards have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company 
keeps sufficient accounting records to disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company 
and to enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
have been prepared and presented in accordance with the 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and provide the information 
required by the Companies Act. They are also responsible 
for taking reasonable measures to safeguard the assets of 
the Company and in that context to have proper regard 
to the establishment of appropriate systems of internal 
control with a view to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

By Order of the Board

(Sgd.)
Corporate Services (Pvt) Limited
Secretaries
Central Industries PLC

Colombo
10th June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CENTRAL 
INDUSTRIES PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Central 
Industries PLC (“the Company”) and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31st March 2022, and the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information as set out on pages 46 to 107 of 
this Annual Report.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of 
the Company and the Group give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31st 
March 2022, and of their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka 
(Code of Ethics), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
Company financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the Company 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

01. Recoverability of Trade Receivables

Refer to the significant account policy Note 3.4 and explanatory Note 17 to these financial statements

Risk Description Our Response

The Group has trade receivables amounting to LKR 1,606 Mn.

There are inherent risks relating to customer’s credit risk 
profile which varies due to the size of each customer and the 
industries that the customers operate in. The risk is whether 
the trade and other receivables are recoverable, and that 
adequate allowance has been made for doubtful receivables.

Impairment provision amounting to LKR 47 Mn was made 
for trade receivables of the Group as at the reporting date. 
Recoverability of trade receivables and the judgements involved 
in determining the estimation of impairment provision were 
considered as a key focus area.

Our audit procedures included.

 ▲ Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design, 
implementation and operating effectiveness of the key internal controls 
within the credit control and approval process.

 ▲ On a sample basis, assessing whether items in the trade debtors 
ageing report were classified within the appropriate ageing 
bucket by comparing individual items in the report with underlying 
documentation, which included sales invoices and goods delivery notes.

 ▲ Assessing the appropriateness of the impairment on trade receivables 
based on ‘expected credit loss’ model as per SLFRS 09, with reference 
to historical payment trends and forward-looking scenarios.

 ▲ Assessing the adequacy of relevant disclosures included in the 
consolidated Financial Statements.
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02. Carrying Values of Inventories.

Refer to the significant Accounting Policy 3.9 and explanatory Note 16 to these Financial Statements

Risk Description Our Response

The Group carried inventories of Rs. 1,564 Mn as at 31 March 
2022 at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

The Group has significant levels of inventory and judgment 
is exercised with regards to the categorization of stock as 
obsolete and or slow moving to be considered for provision; 
estimates are then involved in arriving at provisions against cost 
in respect of slow moving and obsolete inventories to arrive at 
valuation based on lower of cost and net realizable value.

As discussed in Note 3.9, Management judgment is applied in 
arriving at the cost of inventories in order to accurately reflect 
the manufacturing costs incurred in bringing them to their 
current condition and physical location.

Given the level of judgments and estimates involved, the 
carrying value of inventories is identified as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included,

 ▲ Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design, 
implementation and operating effectiveness of the key internal control’s 
management has established to manage inventories including the 
purchases, sales and holding of inventories.

 ▲ Assessing the valuation of the reporting date inventory levels, including 
assessing the reasonability of judgments taken regarding obsolescence.

 ▲ Evaluating the adequacy and consistency of provisioning for inventories 
at the reporting date with the Group’s inventory provision policy

 ▲ On a sample basis, comparing the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
inventories with net realization value of those inventories.

 ▲ Testing the existence of inventories through physical verification as at 
year end for a sample selected based on the professional judgment.

 ▲ Assessing whether the accounting policies had been consistently 
applied and the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in respect of the 
judgment and estimation made in respect of inventory provisioning

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements 
and our Auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT 
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SLAuSs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SLAuSs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 ▲ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

 ▲ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company and the Group’s internal control.

 ▲ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

 ▲ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 ▲ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

 ▲ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with ethical 
requirements in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 
07 of 2007, we have obtained all the information and 
explanations that were required for the audit and, as far as 
appears from our examination, proper accounting records 
have been kept by the Company.

CA Sri Lanka membership number of the engagement 
partner responsible for signing this independent auditor’s 
report is 2618.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Colombo, Sri Lanka
10th June 2022
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GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees) Note

Revenue 6 6,731,883 4,122,942 6,731,883 4,122,942

Cost of Sales (5,324,800) (3,326,602) (5,324,800) (3,326,602)

Gross Profit 1,407,083 796,340 1,407,083 796,340

Other Income 7 2,239 8,601 2,239 8,601

Selling and Distribution Expenses (245,390) (224,826) (245,390) (224,826)

Administrative Expenses (127,874) (113,780) (127,732) (113,378)

Operating Profit 1,036,058 466,335 1,036,200 466,737

Finance Income 41,549 21,188 41,572 21,117

Finance Expense (401,969) (18,225) (402,283) (18,664)

Net Finance Income/ (Expense) 8 (360,420) 2,963 (360,711) 2,453

Profit Before Taxation 9 675,638 469,298 675,489 469,190

Income Tax Expenses 10 (173,544) (66,185) (173,497) (66,153)

Profit for the Year 502,094 403,113 501,992 403,037

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be Reclassified to Profit or Loss
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Defined Benefit Obligations 24.3 9,030 (5,045) 9,030 (5,045)

Deferred Tax on Actuarial Gain / (Loss) Defined Benefit 
Obligations 10.2 (1,625) 908 (1,625) 908

Deferred tax Reversal on Revaluation of Land and 
Buildings 10.2 - 47,233 - 47,233

Other Comprehensive Income for the year net of tax 7,405 43,096 7,405 43,096

Total Comprehensive Income for the year Net of Tax 509,499 446,209 509,397 446,133

Profit attributable to
Owners of the Company 502,094 403,113 501,992 403,037

Non-Controlling Interests - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income attributable to
Owners of the Company 509,499 446,209 509,397 446,133

Non-Controlling Interests - - - -

Basic Earnings per Share (Rs.) 11 23.04 18.50 23.04 18.50

Dividend per Share (Rs.) 12 5.00 8.00 5.00 8.00

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements from pages 51 to 107 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Figures in brackets indicate deductions

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees) Note

ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment 13 1,025,026 922,406 1,025,026 922,406
Intangible Assets 14 646 27 646 27
Investments in Subsidiaries 15 - - 2,000 2,000
Non-Current Assets 1,025,672 922,433 1,027,672 924,433

Inventories 16 1,564,187 1,325,399 1,564,187 1,325,399
Trade & Other Receivables 17 1,762,308 907,264 1,762,308 907,264
Investment valued at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 18 422,042 430,266 422,042 430,050
Current Tax Assets 29.2 12 125 - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 490,073 22,343 489,799 22,260
Asset Held for Sale 19.1 100 - - -
Current Assets 4,238,722 2,685,397 4,238,336 2,684,973
Total Assets 5,264,394 3,607,830 5,266,008 3,609,406

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Stated Capital 21 284,912 160,831 284,912 160,831
Revaluation Reserve 22 399,914 401,883 399,914 401,883
General Reserve 23 100,814 100,814 100,814 100,814
Retained Earnings 1,864,868 1,518,462 1,861,344 1,515,040
Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company 2,650,508 2,181,990 2,646,984 2,178,568
Non-Controlling Interests - - - -
Total Equity 2,650,508 2,181,990 2,646,984 2,178,568

LIABILITIES
Employee Benefits 24 65,033 68,158 65,033 68,158
Deferred Tax Liabilities 25 109,357 111,253 109,357 111,253
Loans and Borrowings 28 21,984 - 21,984 -
Non-Current Liabilities 196,374 179,411 196,374 179,411

Trade Creditors 26 1,271,198 317,773 1,271,198 317,773
Other Payables 27 410,975 260,416 410,938 259,033
Loans and Borrowings 28 596,986 578,659 596,986 578,659
Current Tax Liabilities 29.1 136,785 83,474 136,785 83,474
Amounts due to Related Parties 30 344 1,079 344 1,079
Amounts due to Subsidiaries 31 - - 6,399 6,381
Bank Overdraft 20 - 5,028 - 5,028
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for Sale 19.2 1,224 - - -
Current Liabilities 2,417,512 1,246,429 2,422,650 1,251,427
Total Liabilities 2,613,886 1,425,840 2,619,024 1,430,838
Total Equity and Liabilities 5,264,394 3,607,830 5,266,008 3,609,406
Net Assets per Ordinary Share (Rs.) 121.64 105.42 121.48 105.25

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements from pages 51 to 107 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

These Financial Statements are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No.7 of 2007

(Sgd.)
Dimuthu Nandirathne
Manager-Finance

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements.

For and on behalf of the Board,

(Sgd.) (Sgd.)
G.S.N.Peiris I.M.P. Rupatunge
Chairman Director / CEO

Colombo.
10th June 2022

STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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GROUP Stated Revaluation General Retained Total

Capital Reserve Reserve Earnings Equity

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 2020 121,320 356,619 100,814 1,196,356 1,775,109

Comprehensive Income for the Year
Profit for the Year - - - 403,113 403,113

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year
Deferred Tax Liability on Revaluation Surplus - 47,233 - - 47,233

Actuarial Loss on Defined Benefit Obligations 
(Note 24.3) - - - (5,045) (5,045)

Deferred Tax on Other Comprehensive Income - - - 908 908

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 47,233 - 398,976 446,209

Depreciation on Revaluation Surplus - (2,626) - 2,626 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus - 657 - (657) -

Transactions with Owners of the Company
Unclaimed Dividends Forfeited - - - 235 235

Final Scrip and Cash Dividend, 2019/20 - paid 39,511 - - (79,074) (39,563)

39,511 - - (78,839) (39,328)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 160,831 401,883 100,814 1,518,462 2,181,990

Balance as at 1st April 2021 160,831 401,883 100,814 1,518,462 2,181,990

Comprehensive Income for the Year
Profit for the Year - - - 502,094 502,094

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year
Actuarial Gain on Defined Benefit Obligations 
(Note 24.3) - - - 9,030 9,030

Deferred Tax on Other Comprehensive Income - - - (1,625) (1,625)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - 509,499 509,499

Depreciation on Revaluation Surplus - (2,626) - 2,626 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus - 657 - (657) -

Transactions with Owners of the Company
Unclaimed Dividends Forfeited - - - 523 523

Final Scrip and Cash Dividend, 2020/21 - paid 124,081 - - (165,585) (41,504)

124,081 - - (165,062) (40,981)

Balance as at 31st March 2022 284,912 399,914 100,814 1,864,868 2,650,508

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements from pages 51 to 107 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Figures in brackets indicate deductions

STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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COMPANY Stated Revaluation General Retained Total

Capital Reserve Reserve Earnings Equity

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 2020 121,320 356,619 100,814 1,193,010 1,771,763

Comprehensive Income for the Year
Profit for the Year - - - 403,037 403,037

Other Comprehensive Income for the year
Deferred Tax Liability on Revaluation Surplus - 47,233 - - 47,233

Actuarial Loss on Defined Benefit Obligations 
(Note 24.3) - - - (5,045) (5,045)

Deferred Tax on Other Comprehensive Income - - - 908 908

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 47,233 - 398,900 446,133

Depreciation on Revaluation Surplus - (2,626) - 2,626 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus - 657 - (657) -

Transactions with Owners of the Company
Unclaimed Dividends Forfeited - - - 235 235

Final Scrip and Cash Dividend, 2019/20 - paid 39,511 - - (79,074) (39,563)

39,511 - - (78,839) (39,328)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 160,831 401,883 100,814 1,515,040 2,178,568

Balance as at 1st April 2021 160,831 401,883 100,814 1,515,040 2,178,568

Comprehensive Income for the year
Profit for the Year - - - 501,992 501,992

Other Comprehensive Income for the year
Actuarial Gain on Defined Benefit Obligations 
(Note 24.3) - - - 9,030 9,030

Deferred Tax on Other Comprehensive Income - - - (1,625) (1,625)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - 509,397 509,397

Depreciation on Revaluation Surplus - (2,626) - 2,626 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus - 657 - (657) -

Transactions with Owners of the Company
Unclaimed Dividends Forfeited - - - 523 523

Final Scrip and Cash Dividend, 2020/21 - paid 124,081 - - (165,585) (41,504)

124,081 - - (165,062) (40,981)

Balance as at 31st March 2022 284,912 399,914 100,814 1,861,344 2,646,984

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements from pages 51 to 107 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Figures in brackets indicate deductions
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GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees) Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit before taxation 675,638 469,298 675,489 469,190

Adjustments for :
Depreciation of Property, Plant & Equipment 13 53,005 54,074 53,005 54,074
Amortisation of Intangible Assets 14 187 47 187 47
Impairment loss of Property, Plant & Equipment 13 - 504 - 504
Disposal Gain on Sales, of Quoted Equity Securities 18.1 (2,734) - (2,698) -
Disposal Gain on Redemption of Unit Trust Investments 18.2 (9,469) - (9,469) -
Gain on Investment valued at Fair Value Through Profit 
and Loss 8 (25,234) (5,900) (25,304) (5,830)
Gain on Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 7 (442) - (442) -
Provision for Employee Benefits 24.2 9,437 11,363 9,437 11,363
Provision for Impairment of Trade Debtors 17.1 13,250 14,904 13,250 14,904
Write -off of Inventories 16.3 4,389 6,835 4,389 6,835
Provision for Slow Moving Inventories 16.2 1,440 9,443 1,440 9,443
Interest Expenses 8 48,820 17,756 49,132 18,195
Interest Received 8 (3,377) (14,643) (3,377) (14,643)
Dividend Income 8 (735) (645) (724) (644)

Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes 764,175 563,036 764,314 563,438
Increase in Inventories (244,617) (435,430) (244,617) (435,430)
Increase in Trade and Other Receivables (868,294) (170,821) (868,294) (170,821)
Decrease in Amounts due to Related Parties (735) (10) (735) (10)
Increase in Amounts due to Subsidiaries - - 18 6
Increase in Trade and Other Payables 1,105,209 386,255 1,105,330 386,248

Cash Generated from Operating Activities 755,738 343,030 756,016 343,431
Gratuity Paid 24.1 (3,532) (3,025) (3,532) (3,025)
Interest Paid 8 (48,820) (17,756) (49,132) (18,195)
Taxes Paid 29.1 (123,742) (41,684) (123,707) (41,644)
Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities 579,644 280,565 579,645 280,567

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment and 
Intangible Assets

13 & 
14 (67,847) (68,873) (67,847) (68,873)

Investments/(Redemption) in Unit Trust 18.2 48,000 (406,000) 48,000 (406,000)
Purchase/(Sales) of Quoted Equity Securities 18.1 (2,339) (18,148) (2,520) (18,148)
Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment 442 - 442 -
Purchase of Capital Work - in - Progress 13 (88,584) - (88,584) -
Interest Received 8 3,377 14,643 3,377 14,643
Dividend Received 8 735 645 724 644
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (106,216) (477,733) (106,408) (477,734)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Short Term and Long Term Loans obtained 28 2,429,880 1,991,292 2,429,880 1,991,292
Repayment of Short Term and Long Term Loans 28 (2,389,569) (1,744,615) (2,389,569) (1,744,615)
Dividends paid (40,981) (38,994) (40,981) (38,994)
Net Cash Generated / (Used) in Financing Activities (670) 207,683 (670) 207,683
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 472,758 10,515 472,567 10,516
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the Year 20 17,315 6,800 17,232 6,716
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 20 490,073 17,315 489,799 17,232

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements from pages 51 to 107 attached hereto form an integral part of these Financial 
Statements.

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. REPORTING ENTITY

1.1 Corporate information 
Central Industries PLC (“the Company”) is a public limited 
liability company incorporated on 18th September 1984 and 
domiciled in Sri Lanka.  

The registered office of the Company and the principal place 
of business is situated at 312, Nawala Road, Rajagiriya. The 
ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Colombo 
Stock Exchange.  

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31stMarch 2022 comprise the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and 
individually as “Group entities”). 

The Company has two fully owned subsidiaries, Central 
Industries Marketing (Pvt) Limited (Incorporated on 22nd 
October 2001) and Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Limited 
(incorporated on 02nd March 1993). These wholly owned 
subsidiary Companies did not carry out any business 
activities during the year. 

Financial statements of the Company and the subsidiaries 
are prepared for a common financial year which ends on 31st 
March. 

1.2 Principal Activities and Nature of 
Operations 
The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture 
and distribution of PVC pipes and fittings. The Company 
also manufactured and markets other products for the 
construction and building industry. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
principal activities of the Group during the financial year 
under review. 

1.3 Parent Enterprise and Ultimate 
Parent Enterprise  
Central Finance Company PLC is the parent for the 
Company as at 31st March 2022. In the opinion of the 
Directors, the Company’s ultimate parent undertaking and 
controlling party is Central Finance Company PLC. 

1.4 Number of Employees 
The numbers of employees of the Group and Company as at 
31st March 2022 are as follows: 

Group    387 (2021 - 373) 

Company 387 (2021 - 373)

1.5 Responsibilities for Financial 
Statements and Approval of Financial 
Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Financial Statements of the Group 
as per the provisions of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 
and the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. The Directors’ 
responsibility over Financial Statements is set out in detail in 
the Statement of Directors’ Responsibility. 

The Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 
31st March 2022 were authorized for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 10th June 
2022. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group 
and Company which comprise of the Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows have been prepared in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (hereinafter referred 
to as SLFRS / LKASs) as issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka, and in compliance with the 
requirements of the Company’s Act No. 07 of 2007 and Sri 
Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act No.15 of 1995.
These Financial Statements, except for information on cash 
flows have been prepared following the accrual basis of 
accounting. 

The Group did not adopt any inappropriate accounting 
treatment, which is not in compliance with the requirements 
of the SLFRSs and LKASs, regulations governing the 
preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements.
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2.2 Basis of Measurement 
The Financial Statements of the Group and the Company 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
the following material items in the statement of financial 
position.

Item Basis of  
Measurement

Note 
Number

Freehold land and 
buildings

Measured at cost at the 
time of acquisition and 
subsequently at  
re-valued amounts, 
which are the fair 
values at the date of 
revaluation

13

Defined Benefit 
Obligations

Measured at the present 
value of the  defined 
benefit obligation

24

Assets held for sales Measured at fair Value 
less cost to sell

19 

Investments valued 
at fair value through 
profit or loss

Measured at fair Value 18

2.3 Functional and Presentation 
Currency 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Sri 
Lankan Rupees, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of all Group entities.  There was no change in the 
Group’s presentation and functional currency during the 
year under review. All financial information presented in Sri 
Lankan Rupees has been rounded to the nearest thousands, 
unless stated otherwise. 

2.4 Use of Estimates and Judgments 
The preparation of consolidated Financial Statements 
in conformity with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements are 
included in the following notes;

Critical accounting assumptions and estimation 
uncertainties

Note 

Fair value of land and buildings 2.4.1 

Useful lifetime of the property, plant and 
equipment 

2.4.2 

Impairment on non-financial assets 3.4 

Measurement of defined benefit obligation: key 
actuarial assumptions 

2.4.3 

Impairment measurement of financial assets: 
determination of inputs into the ECL measurement 
model, including key assumptions and 
incorporation of forward-looking information

2.4.4

Measurement of Assets held for sales 3.9

2.4.1 Fair value of land and buildings 
The Group measures land and buildings at re-valued 
amounts, with changes in fair value being recognized 
in Equity through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). 
Valuations are performed to ensure that the fair value of a 
re-valued asset does not differ materially from it carrying 
amount. The Group engages independent professional 
valuer Mr. Anuradha Senevirathne, Chartered Valuation 
Surveyor to assess fair value of land and buildings in 
terms of Sri Lanka Accounting Standard on “Fair Value 
Measurement”(SLFRS13). Based on the valuation techniques 
and inputs used, land and buildings were classified at level 3 
in the fair value hierarchy. 

The valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs, 
key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the land 
and building, and sensitivity analysis are provided in Note 
13.10 and 13.11.

2.4.2 Useful lifetime of the property, 
plant and equipment
The Group reviews the residual values, useful lives, and 
methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
at each reporting date. Judgment of the Management is 
exercised in the estimation of these values, rates, methods 
and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Refer Note 3.7.3 
for more details.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



53Central Industries PLC
Annual Report 2021 | 2022

2.4.3 Measurement of defined benefit 
obligation
The cost of defined benefit obligation is determined using 
actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases 
and mortality rates, etc. Due to the complexity of the 
valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term 
nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to 
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed 
at each reporting date. Refer Note 24.4 for the assumptions 
used to determine defined benefit obligations. Sensitivity 
analysis to key assumptions is disclosed in Note 24.5.

2.4.4 Impairment measurement of 
financial assets
The measurement of impairment losses across all categories 
of financial assets requires judgment, in particular, the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows 
and collateral values when determining impairment losses.

The Group’s Expected Credit Loss (ECL) calculations are 
outputs of complex models with a number of underlying 
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and 
their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that 
are considered accounting judgments and estimates include:

Development of ECL models, including the various statistical 
formulas and the choice of inputs;

Determination of associations between macro-economic 
inputs, such as GDP growth, inflation, interest rates, 
exchange rates and unemployment and the effect on 
Probability of Default (PDs),Exposure at Default (EAD) and 
Loss Given Default (LGD);

The Selection of forward-looking macro-economic scenarios 
and the improbability weightings, to derive the economic 
inputs into the ECL models.

2.5 Measurement of Fair value
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non- financial assets and liabilities.

The Group regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs 
and valuation adjustments. If third party information is 
used to measure fair values, the Group assesses evidence 
obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion 
that such valuations meet the requirements of SLFRS, 
including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such 
valuations should be classified.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. 
Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair 
value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows.

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices).

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on 
observable market data. (Unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or 
a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety 
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest 
level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair 
value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumption made in 
measuring fair value is included in note 39.1.

2.6 Materiality and Aggregation 
Each material class of similar items is presented separately 
in the Financial Statements. Items of dissimilar nature or 
function are presented separately unless they are immaterial 
as permitted by the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard – LKAS 1 
on ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ and amendments 
to the LKAS 1 on ‘Disclosure Initiative’. 

Notes to the Financial Statements are presented in 
systematic manner which ensures the understandability and 
comparability of Financial Statements of the Group and the 
Company. Understandability of the Financial Statements is 
not compromised by obscuring material information with 
immaterial information or by aggregate ingmaterial items 
that have different natures or functions. 
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2.7 Going Concern 
COVID-19 is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Group. Management has determined that there is 
no material uncertainty that casts doubt on the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. In preparing these 
Financial Statements, based on available information, the 
management has assessed the existing and anticipated 
effects of COVID-19 on the Group and the appropriateness 
of the use of the going concern basis. Group has evaluated 
the resilience of its businesses considering a wide range of 
factors such as current and expected profitability, the ability 
to defer non-essential capital expenditure, debt repayment 
schedules, if any, cash reserves and potential sources of 
financing facilities, if required, and the ability to continue 
providing goods and services. 

In management’s view, the Group will have sufficient 
resources to continue for a future period. Management 
concluded that the range of possible outcomes considered 
at arriving at this judgment does not give rise to material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. Therefore, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Group continued to be prepared on 
a going concern basis. Refer Note 39 to the Financial 
Statements for impact of Current economic condition on 
the Financial Statements of the Group. 

2.8 Comparative Information 
Comparative information including quantitative, narrative, 
and descriptive information is disclosed in respect of the 
previous period in the Financial Statements to enhance the 
understanding of the current period’s Financial Statements 
and to enhance the inter period comparability. The 
presentation and classification of the Financial Statements 
of the previous year are amended, where relevant for better 
presentation and to be comparable with those of the current 
year. 

2.9 Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the 
net amount reported in the statement of financial position, 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the 
income statement, unless required or permitted by Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards and as specifically disclosed in the 
Significant Accounting Policies of the Group. 

2.10 Rounding 
The amounts in the Financial Statements have been 
rounded-off to the nearest rupees thousands, except 
where otherwise indicated as permitted by the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standard - LKAS 1 on ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting 
policies to all periods presented in these Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

3.1 Basis of Consolidation 
The Group’s Financial Statements comprise of the 
consolidation of Financial Statements of the company and 
it subsidiaries prepared in terms of Sri Lanka Accounting 
standard (SLFRS -10) - Consolidated Financial Statements. 

3.1.1 Business combinations 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the 
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities 
and assets meets the definition of a business and control 
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a 
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group 
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired 
includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process 
and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce 
outputs.  

The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that 
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired 
set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional 
concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value 
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. 

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally 
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets 
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for 
impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognized in 
profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed 
as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity 
securities. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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The consideration transferred does not include amounts 
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at 
the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent 
consideration that meets the definition of a financial 
instrument is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured, 
and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, 
other contingent consideration is re measured at fair value 
at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair 
value of the contingent consideration are recognized in 
profit or loss. 

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are 
required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 
employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the 
amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included 
in measuring the consideration transferred in the business 
combination. This determination is based on the market-
based measure of the replacement awards compared with 
the market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and 
the extent to which the replacement awards relate to pre-
combination service. 

3.1.2 Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group 
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has right to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control 
ceases. 

Adjustments required to the accounting policies of 
subsidiaries are changed wherever necessary to align them 
with the policies adopted by the Group. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration, including contingent consideration. 
The acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities are measured at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company 
continues to recognize the investment in the subsidiary at 
cost.

Name of  
subsidiary 

Controlling 
interest 

Central Industries Marketing (Pvt) Ltd 100% 

Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Ltd 100% 

3.1.3 Non-Controlling Interest 
The proportion of the profits or losses after taxation 
applicable to outside shareholders of subsidiary companies 
is included under the heading “Non – controlling interest” in 
the Consolidated Income Statement. Losses applicable to 
the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary is allocated to 
the non-controlling interest even if doing so causes the non-
controlling interests to have a deficit balance. 

Non-controlling interests are measured at their appropriate 
share of acquired identifiable net assets at the date of 
acquisition.  

Changes in the Group’s interest in a Subsidiary that do 
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. 

As the Company owns 100% of the equity of its subsidiaries 
no non-controlling interest is applicable. 

3.1.4 Loss of Control 
When the Group loses its control over its subsidiaries, it 
de-recognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries, 
any related Non-Controlling Interest and other components 
of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or 
loss. Any interest retained in former subsidiaries is measured 
at fair value when control is lost. 

3.1.5 Intra-Group Transactions 
Transfer prices between Group entities are set on an arm’s 
length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 

Intra-group balances, intra-group transactions and resulting 
unrealized profits are eliminated in full in the Financial 
Statements. Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. 

3.2 Foreign Currency Transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currencies of Group entities at 
exchange rates as at the dates of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate as at that date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based 
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are 
generally recognized in profit or loss. 
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3.3 Financial Instruments 
(a) Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognized when they are 
originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially recognized when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without 
a significant financing component) or financial liability 
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at 
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(b) Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as 
measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI - debt investment; 
FVOCI - equity investment; or FVTPL.  

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition unless the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day 
of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets 
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
FVTPL: 

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets to collect contractual cash flows; and its contractual 
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount of outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of 
the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

-  it is held within a business model whose objective  
 is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows  
 and selling financial assets; and

-  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to  
 cash flows that are solely payments of principal and  
 interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not 
held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. 
This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised 
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On 
initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a 
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to 
be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets - Business model assessment: 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of 
the business model in which a financial asset is held at 
a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the 
business is managed, and information is provided to 
management. The information considered includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio  
 and the operation of those policies in practice.   
 These include whether management’s strategy  
 focuses on earning contractual interest income,  
 maintaining a particular interest rate profile,  
 matching the duration of the financial assets to the  
 duration of any related liabilities or expected cash  
 outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of  
 the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated  
 and reported to the Group’s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business  
 model (and the financial assets held within that  
 business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how managers of the business are compensated -  
 e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair  
 value of the assets managed or the contractual cash  
 flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial  
 assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and  
 expectations about future sales activity.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions 
that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered 
sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing 
recognition of the assets. Financial assets that are held for 
trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets - Assessment whether contractual cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined 
as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of 
money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and 
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g., liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.  

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing 
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows 
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this 
assessment, the Group considers:

- Contingent events that would change the amount or  
 timing of cash flows;

- Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate,  
 including variable-rate features;

- Prepayment and extension features; and

- Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from  
 specified assets (e.g., non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the sole payments 
of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may 
include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial 
asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual 
paramount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment 
at an amount that substantially represents the contractual 
par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest 
(which may also include reasonable additional compensation 
for early termination) is treated as consistent with this 
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is 
insignificant at initial recognition. 

Financial assets - Subsequent measurement and gains 
and losses 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net 
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, 
are recognized in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost 
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in 
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized 
in profit or loss. 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses 
are recognized in OCI. On de recognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Equity investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss unless 
the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized 
in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities - Classification, subsequent 
measurement and gains and losses 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised 
cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL 
if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is 
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities 
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and 
losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in 
profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de 
recognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 
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(c) Derecognition

Financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers 
assets recognized in its statement of financial position but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred 
assets are not derecognized. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its 
terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different, in which case a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized 
at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference 
between the carrying amount extinguished and the 
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or 
loss. 

Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the 
net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either 
to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

(d) Impairment policy

Non-derivative financial assets   
Financial instruments and contract assets 

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit losses 
(ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortized cost. Loss 
allowances for trade receivables is always measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 
when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable 
and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based 
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit 
assessment and including forward-looking information.  

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly if it is more than 180 days past 
due.  

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations  
 to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to  
 actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.  

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from 
default events that are possible within the 12 months after 
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of 
the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is 
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is 
exposed to credit risk.  

Measurement of ECLs 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. 
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive).  

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 
financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether 
financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities 
at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset have occurred.  
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the 
following observable data:

 - Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or   
 issuer;

- A breach of contract such as a default or being more  
 than 180 days past due;

- The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group  
 on terms that the Group would not consider  
 otherwise;

- It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy  
 or other financial reorganization; or

- The disappearance of an active market or a security  
 because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of 
financial position  

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets. 

  
3.4 Impairment Policy: Non-financial 
assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, 
other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that 
have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the 
same time.  

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually 
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of other assets, recognized 
in prior periods is assessed at each reporting date for 
any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized.

3.5 Stated Capital 
Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Incidental costs 
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as 
an expense. 

3.6 Property, Plant and Equipment 

3.6.1 Recognition and Measurement 

3.6.1.1 Basis of recognition 
Property, plant and equipment are recognized if it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will flow to the Group and cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. 

3.6.1.2 Basis of measurements 
An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for 
recognition as an asset is initially measured at its cost. The 
cost of property, plant and equipment comprisests purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to working condition for its intended use. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the working condition of its intended use. 
This also includes costs of dismantling and removing the 
items and restoring the site on which they are located and 
borrowing costs on qualifying assets. 
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Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of 
the related equipment is capitalized as part of that asset. 
When parts of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment 
(major components) have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Subsequent measurement - Cost model 

The Group applies the Cost Model to all property, plant and 
equipment except for freehold land and freehold building 
and records at cost of purchase together with any incidental 
expenses thereon, less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulate impairment losses.

Subsequent measurement - Revaluation model 

The Group applies the Revaluation Model for the entire class 
of freehold land and freehold building for measurement 
after initial recognition. Such properties are carried at 
re valued amounts, being their fair value at the date of 
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
on buildings and any accumulated impairment losses 
charged subsequent to the date of valuation. Revaluations 
are performed with sufficient regularity such that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair values at the end of each 
reporting period. If the fair values of land and Buildings 
do not change other than by a significant amount at each 
reporting period, the Group will revalue such land every five 
years. 

Any surplus arising on the revaluation is recognized in other 
comprehensive income except to the extent that the surplus 
reverses a previous revaluation deficit on the same asset 
recognized in income statement, in which case the credit to 
that extent is recognized in income statement. Any deficit 
on revaluation is recognized in income statement except 
to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus 
on the same asset, in which case the debit to that extent 
is recognized in other comprehensive income. Therefore, 
revaluation increases, and decreases cannot be offset, even 
within a class of assets. 

External, independent qualified valuer having appropriate 
experience in valuing properties in locations of properties 
being valued, value the land and Buildings owned by the 
Group based on market values, this is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The details of land valuation 
are disclosed in Note No. 13.10 & 13.11 to the Financial 
Statements. 

3.6.2 Subsequent Costs 
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property or 
equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing 
of property and equipment are recognized in the Income 
Statement as incurred. 

3.6.3 Depreciation 
The Group provides depreciation from the date the assets 
are available for use up to the date of disposal, at the 
following rates on a straight-line basis over the periods 
appropriate to the estimated useful lives of the different 
types of assets. Depreciation on re valued classes of assets 
is based on the remaining useful life of the assets at the time 
of the revaluation. Land is not depreciated. 

Significant components of individual assets are assessed 
and if a component has a useful life that is different from 
the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated 
separately. Depreciation is recognized as an expense in the 
Income statement. 

Estimated useful lives of significant items of Property, Plant 
and Equipment are as follows:

Category of 
Asset 

Useful Economics  
Lifetime (Years)

Buildings 40 

Plant and  
Machinery(Excluding the Processing 
Unit of the Extrusion Lines) 

5-25 

Tools and Equipment 3-5 

Furniture and Fittings 10 

Motor Vehicles 5

Computer Equipment 3-5

Processing units of Extrusion Lines 10,000-15,000 
operating hours. 

Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date 
that the asset is classified as held for sale and the date that 
the asset is de-recognized. Depreciation methods, useful 
lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted if appropriate.
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3.6.4 De-recognition 
An item of Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use. The gains or losses arising on de-
recognition (disposal or retirement) of an item of Property, 
Plant and Equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the 
assets are recognized net within ‘other income’ in the 
Statement of profit or loss. When re-valued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are 
transferred to retained earnings. 

3.7 Intangible Assets 
(a) Recognition and Measurement

All computer software costs incurred, licensed for use by 
the Group, which are not integrally related to associate 
hardware, and can be clearly identified, reliably measured 
and is probable will lead to future economic benefits are 
included in the Statement of Financial Position under 
the category, Intangible Assets, and carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses if any. 

(b) Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including 
expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, are 
recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

(c) Amortization

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible 
assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally 
recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortized. 

The estimated useful life-time in 5 years for all computer 
software for the current and comparative years. 

Amortization methods, useful life-time and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

(d) De-recognition

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible 
asset is measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

3.8 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable 
value under the weighted average method, after making do 
provision for slow moving items and obsolescence. 

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. The costs 
of raw materials are determined at purchase price including 
all expenses incurred in sourcing.  

The cost of Work-in-Progress is the value of raw material 
and direct inputs transferred to production. The cost of 
finished goods includes raw material cost, direct labour costs 
and a systematic allocation of fixed and variable production 
overheads. 

Non-moving and Slow-moving Inventories 

The management carries out an annual review of the 
inventories and makes provisions as follows: 

Non-moving Inventories 

80% provision is made on the value of items which have not 
moved for more than 12 months. 

Slow-moving Inventories 

50% provision is made on the value of slow-moving items 
which are in excess of 12 months’ average requirements. 

Machinery Spares 

Provision is made in full for machinery spares which have 
been carried in stocks for more than 10 years.

3.9 Assets held for sale 
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets 
and liabilities, are classified as held-for sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale 
rather than through continuing use. 

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is 
allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets 
and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is 
allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, 
employee benefit assets, investment property or biological 
assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with 
the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on 



62 Central Industries PLC
Annual Report 2021 | 2022

initial classification as held-for-sale or held-for distribution 
and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurements are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and 
property, plant, and equipment are no longer amortized or 
depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer 
equity accounted. 

3.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand and 
short-term deposits with original maturity of three months 
or less. Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities. For 
purpose of Cash Flow, Bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included as components of cash and cash 
equivalent. 

3.11 Liabilities and Provisions 
Liabilities classified as current liabilities on the statement of 
financial position are those which fall due for payment on 
demand or within one year from the reporting date. Non-
current liabilities are those balances payable after one year 
from the reporting date. 

All known liabilities are accounted for in the statement of 
financial position.

3.11.1 Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a binding 
present obligation. This may be either legal because it 
derives from a contract, legislation or other operation 
of law, or constructive because the Group created valid 
expectations on the part of third parties by accepting certain 
responsibilities. To record such an obligation, it must be 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
for the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized 
as a provision and the indicated time range of the outflow 
of economic benefits are the best estimate (most probable 
outcome) of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, considering the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Non-current 
provisions are discounted if the impact is material. 

3.12 Employee Benefits 
a). Defined Contribution Plans - (Employees Provident 
Fund and Employees Trust Fund) 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under 
which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
a further amount. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognized as expenses in the profit 
and loss in the period during which related services are 
rendered by employees. 

Employees’ Provident Fund 

The Group and Company employees contribute 12% and 
8% respectively on the salary of each employee. The fund is 
managed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 

Employee Trust Fund 

The Group contributes 3% of the salary of each employee to 
the Employees’ Trust Fund.  

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized 
as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as incurred.

b). Defined Benefit Plans

A defined Benefit Plan is a post- employment benefit 
plan other than a Defined Contribution Plan. The liability 
recognized in the Statement of Financial Position in respect 
of a Defined Benefit Plan is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit 
method, as recommended by LKAS 19, “Employee Benefits”.  

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates that apply to the currency 
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to 
maturity approximating to the terms of the related liability. 
The assumptions based on which the results of the actuarial 
valuation were determined are included in the note 24 
to the Financial Statements. This liability is not externally 
funded, and the item is grouped under Non- Current 
Liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The qualifying remuneration of all permanent employees 
is considered in the calculation of the defined benefit 
obligation. 
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However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, 
the liability to an employee arises only on completion of five 
years of continued service. Liabilities are computed on the 
basis of half a month’s salary for each year of completed 
service. The Company’s obligations under the said Act 
is determined based on an actuarial valuation using the 
projected unit credit method carried out by a professional 
actuary. 

Re-measurements of the defined benefit liability, which 
comprise actuarial gains and losses, are recognized 
immediately in OCI. The Group determines the interest 
expense on the defined benefit liability for the period by 
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to 
the then defined benefit liability, taking into account any 
changes in the defined benefit liability during the period as 
a result of benefit payments. Interest expense and other 
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 
profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan 
is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to 
past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognizes gains 
and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when 
the settlement occurs. 

c). Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured 
on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount 
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service rendered by the 
employee and the obligation can be measured reliably. 

d). Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when 
the Group and the Company is demonstrably committed, 
without a realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 
detailed plan to either terminate employment before 
the normal retirement date, or to provide termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies 
are recognized as an expense if the Group and the 
Company has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is 
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable 
more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are 
discounted to their present value. 

3.13 Capital Commitments and 
Contingencies 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events beyond the control of the Group or a present 
obligation that is not recognized because it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare 
cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognized 
because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not 
recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in 
the Financial Statements. 

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities of the 
Group are disclosed in Notes 36 and 37 to the Financial 
Statements. 

4. STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4.1 Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is comprised of the invoiced value of goods sold 
to customers after deduction of trade discounts, but before 
charging taxes thereon. 

Revenue from contracts with Customers 

The Group revenue is recognized when a customer obtains 
control of the goods or services –Determining the timing 
of the transfer of control – at a point in time or overtime 
requires judgement. 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is highly probable 
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognition will not occur. Revenue is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net 
of trade discounts and sales taxes and after eliminating sales 
within the Group. 

The following specific criteria are used for the purpose 
of recognition of revenue:

a) Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in  
 the Statement of Profit or Loss when control of the  
 goods has been transferred to the customers.  
 Recovery of the consideration is probable, the  
 associated costs and possible return of goods can be  
 estimated reliably, and there is no continuing  
 management involvement with trade returns and  
 trade discounts.
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b) Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis.

c) Dividend income is recognized when the  
 shareholders’ right to receive the payment is  
 established.

d) Profit or loss of a revenue nature on the disposal of  
 Property, Plant and Equipment and other non- 
 current assets have been accounted in the  
 Statement of Profit or Loss having deducted from  
 the proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount of the  
 asset and the related selling expenses.

4.2 Expenditure
i. Operating Expenditure

All expenditure incurred in running of the business and in 
maintaining the Property, Plant and Equipment in a state 
of efficiency has been charged to the statement of Profit 
& Loss in arriving at the profit for the year. For the purpose 
of presentation of Statements of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income, the Directors are of the opinion that 
the function of expense method present fairly the elements 
of the enterprise’s performance, hence such presentation 
method is adopted. 

Expenditure incurred for the purpose of acquiring, 
expanding or improving assets of a permanent nature by 
means of which to carry on the business or for the purpose 
of increasing the earning capacity of the business treated as 
capital expenditure. 

Repairs and renewals are recognized in Profit or Loss in the 
year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

ii. Finance Cost

Interest cost is recognized in the Income Statement as it 
accrues and is calculated by using the effective interest rate 
method. The Group’s finance cost includes interest expenses 
on short-term and long – term borrowing and other interest 
expenses. 

iii. Borrowing Cost

As per the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 23 on 
‘Borrowing Costs’, the Group capitalises borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying asset as part of the cost of the 
asset. A qualifying asset is an asset which takes a substantial 
period to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other 
borrowing costs are recognized in the Income Statement in 
the period in which they occur.

4.3 Income Tax Expenses 
Income tax expense comprises both current and deferred 
tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income or statement of 
changes in equity, in which case it is recognized directly in 
the respective statements. 

The Group has determined that interest and penalties 
related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, 
do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore 
accounted for them under LKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

a. Current Taxation

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. 

Taxation for the current and previous periods to the extent 
unpaid is recognized as a liability in the financial Statements. 
When the amount of taxation already paid in respect of 
current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognized as an asset in the Financial 
Statements. 

b. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized 
for:

- Temporary differences on the initial recognition of  
 assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a  
 business combination and that affects neither  
 accounting nor taxable profit nor loss;

- Temporary differences related to investments in  
 subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to  
 the extent that the Group is able to control the  
 timing of the reversal of the temporary differences  
 and it is probable that they will not reverse in the  
 foreseeable future; 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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-  Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial  
 recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable 
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant 
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable 
temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred 
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, 
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the 
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized; such 
reductions are reversed when the probability of future 
taxable profits improves. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain 
criteria are met. 

c. Tax exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, 
the Group considers the impact of uncertain tax positions 
and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This 
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may 
involve a series of judgments about future events.  

New information may become available that causes the 
Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy 
of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities 
will impact the tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made.

4.4 Basic Earnings per Share 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share 
(EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

4.5 Dividend Distribution 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability 
and deducted from equity when they are approved by the 
Group’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from 
equity when they are declared and are no longer at the 
discretion of the Group. 

4.6 Statement of Cash Flows 
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and deposits in 
banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Investments with 
short maturities i.e. three months or less from the date of 
acquisition are also treated as cash equivalents. 

The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the 
“indirect method”. Interest paid is classified as an operating 
cash flow, interest and dividends received are classified 
as investing cash flows while dividends paid are classified 
as financing cash flows for the purpose of presenting the 
Statement of Cash Flow. 

4.7 Segment Reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that 
engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and 
expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. All operating segments’ operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the Director/ CEO to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.

Segment information reflects Water Management Products 
and Electrical Products. Inter segment transfers are based 
on fair market prices. 
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The Group’s business activities are located in Sri Lanka. 
Consequently, assets and liabilities by geographic regions 
are considered not material to be segmented. Expenses 
that cannot be directly identified to a particular segment 
are allocated on the basis decided by the management and 
applied consistently throughout the year.

5. SRI LANKA ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS (SLFRS) ISSUED BUT NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE
A number of new standards and amendments to standards 
are effective for annual periods beginning after 1st January 
2022 and earlier application is permitted; however, the 
Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards 
in preparing these Financial Statements.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction (Amendments to LKAS 12)

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition 
exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal 
and offsetting temporary differences – e.g. leases. The 
amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1st January 2023. 

5.1 The following new and amended 
standards are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the company’s 
Financial Statements.

Reference to Conceptual Framework 
(Amendments to SLFRS 3). The 
amendment applies to annual reporting 
period beginning on or after 1st January 
2022
Key amendments are as follow:

-  add to SLFRS 3 a requirement that, for 
  transactions and other events within the scope  
  of LKAS 37 or IFRIC 21, an acquirer applies LKAS  
  37 or IFRIC 21 (instead of the Conceptual  
  Framework) to identify the liabilities it has  
  assumed in a business combination. The Company  
  does not anticipate this amendment to have a  
  significant impact.

-  add to SLFRS 3 an explicit statement that an  
  acquirer does not recognize contingent asset   
  sacquired in a business combination. The Company  
  does not anticipate this amendment to have a  
  significant impact. 

Annual Improvements to SLFRS 
Standards 2018–2020. The amendments 
are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
As part of its process to make non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to accounting Standards, the IASB 
International Accounting Standards Board (the Board) 
has issued the Annual Improvements to SLFRS Standards 
2018–2020. Key Aspects covered is as follows.

- SLFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International   
Financial Reporting Standards.

This amendment simplifies the application of SLFRS 1 for 
a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of SLFRS 
Standards later than its parent. The Company does not 
anticipate this amended to have a significant impact.

-  SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

This amendment clarifies that – for the purpose of 
performing the ‘’10 per cent test’ for de-recognition of 
financial liabilities – in determining those fees paid net of 
fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid or received 
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid 
or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s 
behalf. The Company does not anticipate this amendment to 
have a significant impact.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 
before Intended Use (Amendments to 
LKAS 16).
This amendment prohibits deducting from the cost of an 
item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from 
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, 
an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, 
and the cost of producing those items, in profit or loss. 
The Group does not anticipate this amendment to have a 
significant impact.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Onerous contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a 
Contract (Amendments to LKAS 37)
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes 
in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the 
purpose of assessing whether the contract is onerous. The 
amendments apply for Annual Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1st January 2022 to contracts existing at the 
date when the amendments are first applied. At the date 
of initial application, the cumulative effect of applying 
the amendments is recognized as an opening balance 
adjustment to retained earnings or other components of 
equity, as appropriate. The Group does not anticipate this 
amendment to have a significant impact. 

Definition of Accounting Estimates 
(Amendments to LKAS 8)
The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting 
estimates clarifying that they are monetary amounts in 
the Financial Statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty. Additionally, the amendments also clarify the 
relationship between accounting policies and accounting 
estimates by specifying that an entity develops an 
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by 
an accounting policy. The amendment applies to Annual 
Reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2023.

Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current (Amendments to LKAS 
1). The amendment applies to Annual 
Reporting periods beginning on or after 
1st January 2023.
The amendments in Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current (Amendments to LKAS 1) affect only the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial 
position not the amount or/ timing of recognition of any 
asset, liability income or expenses, or the information that 
entities disclose about those item 

The Key amendments are as follows: 

- the classification of liabilities as current or non-current 
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end 
of the reporting period. The classification is unaffected by 
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right 
to defer settlement of a liability. The standard also clarifies 
that settlement refers to the transfer to the counter party 
of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. The 
Group does not anticipate this amended to have a significant 
impact.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
(Amendments to LKAS 1). The 
amendment applies to Annual Reporting 
period beginning on or after 1st January 
2023
The key amendments include,

-  requiring companies to disclose their material  
  accounting policies rather than their significant  
  accounting policies.

-  clarifying that accounting policies related to  
  immaterial transactions, other events or conditions  
  are themselves immaterial and as such need not be  
  disclosed; and

-  clarifying that not all accounting policies that  
  relate to material transactions, other events or  
  conditions are themselves material to a Group’s  
  financial statements. The Company does not  
  anticipate this amendment to have a significant  
  impact.



68 Central Industries PLC
Annual Report 2021 | 2022

6. REVENUE
GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Water Management Products 6,214,570 3,793,625 6,214,570 3,793,625

Electrical Products 517,313 329,317 517,313 329,317

Total Revenue 6,731,883 4,122,942 6,731,883 4,122,942

6.1 Timing of Revenue Recognition
Products & services transferred at a point in time 6,731,883 4,122,942 6,731,883 4,122,942

Total Revenue 6,731,883 4,122,942 6,731,883 4,122,942

Segmental Information is given in Note 34 to these Financial Statements.

7. OTHER INCOME
GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Gain on sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 442 - 442 -

Sale of Scrap and Obsolete items 1,797 8,601 1,797 8,601

2,239 8,601 2,239 8,601

8. NET FINANCE INCOME/ (EXPENSE)
GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Dividend Income 735 645 724 644

Interest Income 3,377 14,643 3,377 14,643

Disposal Gain on Redemption of Unit Trust Investments 9,469 - 9,469 -

Disposal Gain on sales of Quoted Equity Securities 2,734 - 2,698 -

Net Change in Investments valued at Fair Value Through Profit 
and Loss 25,234 5,900 25,304 5,830

Finance Income 41,549 21,188 41,572 21,117

Interest Expense on Financial Liabilities 46,812 16,382 47,126 16,821

Interest Expense on Distributor Security Deposits 2,007 1,374 2,007 1,374

Net Foreign Exchange Loss 352,654 230 352,654 230

Stamp Duty 496 239 496 239

Finance Expense 401,969 18,225 402,283 18,664

Net Finance Income / (Expense) (360,420) 2,963 (360,711) 2,453

NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
The profit before taxation for the year is stated after charging all expenses including the following :

GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Directors’ Emoluments 20,250 7,107 20,250 7,107

Auditors’ Remuneration - Statutory Audit - KPMG 535 469 535 469

 - Other Auditor 51 51 - -

 - Non Audit Services 200 382 200 382

Depreciation on Property Plant & Equipment (Note 13) 53,005 54,074 53,005 54,074

Amortization of Intangible Assets (Note 14) 187 47 187 47

Donations 505 13 505 13

Legal Expenses 597 1,038 597 1,038

Impairment Provision for Trade Receivables (Note 17.1) 13,250 14,904 13,250 14,904

Impairment Provision for Inventories (Note 16.2) 1,440 9,443 1,440 9,443

Write down of inventory to Net Realizable Value (Note 16.3) 4,389 6,835 4,389 6,835

Staff Cost
Remuneration 196,625 169,190 196,625 169,190

Defined Contribution Plans - EPF 23,598 20,303 23,598 20,303

Defined Contribution Plans - ETF 5,896 5,076 5,896 5,076

Defined Benefit Plans ( Note 24.2) 9,437 11,363 9,437 11,363

10. INCOME TAXES
GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

10.1 Amounts recognized in Profit or Loss
Current tax expense 
Income Tax on Current Year's Profits (Note 10.3)  175,894 96,923  175,847  96,891 

Income Tax (Over)/ under Provision Prior Years  1,171  (2,360)  1,171  (2,360)

 177,065  94,563  177,018  94,531 

Deferred tax expense
(Origination)/ Reversal of Deferred Tax Assets (Note 25.a)  (3,182)  (5,578)  (3,182)  (5,578)

Origination/ (Reversal) of Deferred Tax Liability (Note 25.b)  (339)  (2,971)  (339)  (2,971)

Reduction of Tax Rate (Note 25.c)  -  (19,829)  -  (19,829)

 (3,521)  (28,378)  (3,521)  (28,378)

Income Tax Expense recognized in Profit or Loss 173,544 66,185  173,497 66,153 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
70 Central Industries PLC

Annual Report 2021 | 2022

10.2 Amounts recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021

Value
Before Tax

Tax
(Expenses)

/ Benefit Net of Tax
Value

Before Tax

Tax
(Expenses)

/ Benefit Net of Tax

(In Thousands of Rupees)

GROUP
Item that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Defined 
Benefit Obligations 9,030 (1,625) 7,405 (5,045) 908 (4,137)

Revaluation Surplus on Land & 
Building - - - - 47,233 47,233

9,030 (1,625) 7,405 (5,045) 48,141 43,096

COMPANY
Item that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Defined 
Benefit Obligations 9,030 (1,625) 7,405 (5,045) 908 (4,137)

Revaluation Surplus on Land & 
Building - - - - 47,233 47,233

9,030 (1,625) 7,405 (5,045) 48,141 43,096

10.3 Reconciliation of Accounting Profits and Taxable Income
GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Profit Before Taxation 675,638 469,298 675,489 469,190

Other Source of Income (33,631) (15,986) (33,631) (15,475)

Aggregate Disallowed Expenses 329,236 97,418 329,236 97,418

Aggregate Allowed Expenses (63,227) (42,953) (63,227) (42,953)

Assessable Income from Business 908,016 507,777 907,867 508,180

Assessable Interest Income 33,624 15,082 33,427 14,643

Taxable Income 941,640 522,859 941,294 522,823

Current Tax at 14% 74 - 73 -

Current Tax at 18% 150,036 85,751 150,036 85,751

Current Tax at 24% 25,784 11,172 25,738 11,140

Total Income Tax on Current Year's Taxable Income 175,894 96,923 175,847 96,891

10.4 Applicable income tax rates as per the Department of Inland Revenue
In accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act No 10 of 2021, the Company is liable for Income 
Tax at the rate of 18% on its taxable Business income (Manufacturing Business). (2020/2021 - 18%). Income Tax for dividend 
income is computed at 14% and Income Tax for any other income is computed at 24%
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10.5 Reconciliation of effective tax rate
GROUP

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Profit Before Taxation 675,638 469,298

Income Tax Using the Domestic Tax Rate 125,996 19% 96,923 21%

Other Source of Income (6,054) -1% (2,877) -1%

Aggregate Disallowed Expenses 59,262 9% 10,789 2%

Aggregate Allowed Expenses (11,381) -2% (11,532) -2%

167,824 25% 93,303 20%

Other Statutory Income 8,070 1% 3,620 1%

Total Statutary Income 175,894 26% 96,923 21%

Adjustment For Prior Years 1,171 0% (2,360) -1%

Current Tax on Profit for the Year 177,065 26% 94,563 20%

COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Profit Before Taxation  675,489  469,190 

Income Tax Using the Domestic Tax Rate  125,996 19%  96,891 21%

Other Source of Income  (6,054) -1%  (2,786) -1%

Aggregate Disallowed Expenses  59,262 9%  10,804 2%

Aggregate Allowed Expenses  (11,381) -2%  (11,532) -2%

 167,824 25%  93,377 20%

Other Statutory Income  8,022 1%  3,514 1%

Total Statutory Income  175,847 26%  96,891 21%

Adjustment For Prior Years  1,171 0%  (2,360) -1%

Current Tax on Profit for the Year  177,018 26%  94,531 20%

11. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic Earnings Per Share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent 
entity by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The following reflect the profit and share data used in the Basic Earnings Per Share computation:

GROUP COMPANY

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees) Restated Restated

Profit attributable to Ordinary Shareholders (Rs'000) 502,094 403,113 501,992 403,037

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares (Note 11.1) 21,788,936 21,788,936 21,788,936 21,788,936

Basic Earnings Per Share ( Rs. ) 23.04 18.50 23.04 18.50

11.1 Weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares
Issued ordinary shares at as at beginning of the year 21,788,936 20,698,110 21,788,936 20,698,110

Shares issued in August 2021 as a scrip dividend - 1,090,826 - 1,090,826

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares as at 31st March 21,788,936 21,788,936 21,788,936 21,788,936
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The weighted-average number of ordinary shares as at 31st March 2021 has been restated based on the number of shares 
issued as scrip dividend in August 2021 in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 33 Earnings Per Share.

11.2 Diluted Earning per Share
There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding at any time during the year. Therefore, diluted Earnings Per 
Share is the same as Basic Earnings Per Share shown above.

12. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

12.1 Dividend Declared and Paid during the Year
The final dividend declared for the year ended 31st March 2021 of Rs. 8/- per share amounting to Rs. 165,584,880/- in which 
Rs. 41,504,470 was paid by cash.

12.2 Proposed Dividends for approval at AGM
The Board of Directors has declared a First and final ordinary dividend of Rs. 5 per ordinary share by way of scrip dividend 
for 2021/22 amounting to Rs. 108,944,680 which is to be approved by the shareholders at the Annual General meeting to 
be held on 19th July 2022. The entire ordinary dividends will be paid out of Profit for the year ending 31st March 2022. As 
stipulated by Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS 10) Events After the Reporting period, the proposed dividend is not 
recognized as a liability as at 31st March 2022 in the Financial Statements.

Dividend per share is calculated by dividing the dividend declared out of profits for the year attributable to ordinary 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

12.3 Compliance with Section 56 and 57 of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007
As required by Section 56 of the Companies Act, No.7 of 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company has certified that the 
Company satisfies the Solvency Test in accordance with Section 57, prior to recommending the first and final dividend for the 
year ended 31st March 2022. A statement of solvency completed and duly signed by the Directors has been audited by M/S 
KPMG, Chartered Accountants.
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13.1 Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use
Property, Plant and Equipment include fully depreciated assets that are in the use of normal business activities having a cost 
of Rs. 246.1 Mn. (2020/21 Rs.203.3 Mn.).

13.2 Title restriction on property, plant and equipment
There are no restrictions that existed on the title of the PPE of the Group and the Company as at the reporting date except 
assets disclosed under note 13.7.

13.3 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year
During the financial year, the Group acquired PPE for the aggregate value of Rs. 67 Mn. (2020/2021 - Rs. 68.8 Mn.) by means 
of cash.

13.4 Capitalisation of borrowing cost
There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year 
2021/2022 (2020/2021 – Nil).

13.5 Temporarily Idle property, plant and equipment
There is no temporarily idle property, plant or equipment as at the reporting date. (2020/2021 - Nil)

13.6 Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Board of Directors has assessed the potential impairment loss of PPE as at 31st March 2022 by considering the impact 
from the current economic condition as well. Based on the assessment, no impairment provision is required to be made in the 
Financial Statements as at the reporting date in respect of PPE (2020/2021 - Nil).

13.7 Property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities
The value of the property, plant and equipment pledged as security against the banking facilities is as follows,

Bank Facilities Available

Public Bank Ltd Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 80 Mn.

13.8 Valuation of Lands and Buildings
The Group uses the revaluation model of measurement for lands and buildings. The Group engaged Mr. Anuradha 
Senevirathne - MRICS (UK), FIV (Sri Lanka), an independent valuer, to determine the fair value of its lands and buildings. Fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Valuations are based on open market rates, adjusted for any 
difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property. The date of the most recent valuation was 31st March 
2019. As per the valuer’s opinion, there is no significant change in the fair value as at 31st March 2022.

13.9 Fair value hierarchy
The fair value of the Land and Building was determined by an external independent property valuer, Mr. Anuradha 
Senevirathne - MRICS (UK), FIV (Sri Lanka), having appropriate recognized professional qualifications and experience in the 
category of the property being valued. The valuer provides the fair value of the property. Based on the valuation techniques 
used it has been classified under Level 3 in fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs are 
disclosed under Note 13.11.
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13.12 If lands and buildings were stated at historical cost, the amounts would have 
been as follows;
The carrying amount of the Group’s assets that would have been included in the Financial Statements if the asset was carried 
at cost less depreciation is as follows:

Freehold Land

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Cost as at 1st April 44,256 44,256 44,256 44,256

Carrying value as at 31st March 44,256 44,256 44,256 44,256

Freehold Building

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Cost as at 1st April 196,139 196,139 196,139 196,139

Accumulated Depreciation (72,644) (66,566) (72,644) (66,566)

Carrying value as at 31st March 123,495 129,573 123,495 129,573

13.13 Capital Work - in - Progress
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April - - - -

Additions during the Year 88,584 - 88,584 -

Transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment (6,327) - (6,327) -

Balance as at 31st March 82,257 - 82,257 -

Capital work in progress represents the amount of expenditure recognized under property, plant and equipment during the 
construction of the Stores building, Water Sump and Chiller room in Yakkala Factory complex.
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Cost
Balance as at 1st April 3,756 3,756 3,756 3,756

Additions during the year 806 - 806 -

Balance at 31st March 4,562 3,756 4,562 3,756

Accumulated Amortisation
Balance at 1st April 3,729 3,682 3,729 3,682

Charge for the year 187 47 187 47

Balance at 31st March 3,916 3,729 3,916 3,729

Carrying Value as at 31st March 646 27 646 27

Intangible assets consist of computer software acquired by the Group/Company.

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
As at 31st March 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Central Industries Marketing (Pvt) Limited 1,000 1,000

(100,000 Ordinary Shares -100% at cost)

Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Limited 1,000 1,000

(100,000 Ordinary Shares -100% at cost)
2,000 2,000

The Subsidiaries Central Industries Marketing (Pvt) Limited and Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Limited did not carry out any 
commercial operations during the year. The Board is of the view that there is no requirement for any provision against 
impairment of the investments in the said subsidiaries as at the reporting date based on the assessment of the net asset 
values of the subsidiaries.

16. INVENTORIES
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Raw Materials 736,757 562,463 736,757 562,463

Work-in-Progress 30,041 40,634 30,041 40,634

Finished Goods 695,801 360,237 695,801 360,237

Machinery Spares 18,295 16,841 18,295 16,841

Consumable Stock and By-Products 1,333 1,599 1,333 1,599

Goods-in-Transit 115,965 376,190 115,965 376,190

Less :- Provision for non-moving and slow moving
 Inventories (Note 16.2) (34,005) (32,565) (34,005) (32,565)

1,564,187 1,325,399 1,564,187 1,325,399
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GROUP COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

16.1 The amount of Inventories carried at net realisable value 
and included above are 35,193 28,435 35,193 28,435

16.2 Provision for Non moving and Slow moving Inventories
GROUP COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 32,565 23,122 32,565 23,122

Provision recognized during the year 1,440 9,443 1,440 9,443

Balance as at 31st March 34,005 32,565 34,005 32,565

16.3 The amount recognized in the Profit and Loss as Expense
GROUP COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

The Amount of inventories recognized as an expense during 
the year 4,816,078 3,005,077 4,816,078 3,005,077

Impairment Provision for Inventories 1,440 9,443 1,440 9,443

Write down of inventory to Net Realizable Value 4,389 6,835 4,389 6,835

16.4 Facilities available from banks against a negative pledge over the Company’s 
inventories
Bank Facilities Available

Nations Trust Bank PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 500 Mn.
Hatton National Bank PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 550 Mn.
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 1,620 Mn.
Seylan Bank PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 1,165 Mn.
People’s Bank Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 420 Mn.
Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan and Guarantee facilities for Rs. 270 Mn.
Sampath Bank PLC Short Term Loan, Overdraft, Import Loan for Rs. 500 Mn.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Trade Receivables 1,606,017 928,396 1,602,588 923,193

Impairment of Trade Debtors (Note 17.1) (47,217) (38,659) (43,788) (33,456)

1,558,800 889,737 1,558,800 889,737

Deposits 6,217 6,045 6,217 6,045

Advances and Prepayments (Note 17.2) 196,537 9,793 196,537 9,793

Other Receivables 754 1,689 754 1,689

1,762,308 907,264 1,762,308 907,264

17.1 Impairment of Trade Debtors
Balance as at 1st April 38,659 25,446 33,456 20,243

Provision recognized during the year 13,250 14,904 13,250 14,904

Write-off of previously impaired Debtors (4,692) (1,691) (2,918) (1,691)

8,558 13,213 10,332 13,213

Balance at 31st March 47,217 38,659 43,788 33,456

There are no enforcement activities relating to the write-off of debtors during the year.

17.2 Advances and Prepayments include the advance payment made to suppliers.

18. INVESTMENT VALUED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Investment in Quoted Equity Securities (18.1) 28,870 18,624 28,870 18,408

Investment in Unit Trust (18.2) 393,172 411,642 393,172 411,642

422,042 430,266 422,042 430,050
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18.1 Investments in Quoted Equity Securities
GROUP

No. of
Shares Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2022

No. of
Shares Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Hemas Holding PLC 1,295 73 60 3,885 218 324

LankaWall Tiles PLC 25,000 1,875 1,743 114,000 4,205 4,298

Lanka Tiles PLC 20,000 1,378 1,194 120,000 4,475 4,458

Expo Lanka Holdings PLC 61,000 6,431 12,673 - - -

Browns Investment PLC 340,000 2,862 2,244 - - -

LOLC Holdings PLC 10,500 5,886 6,274 - - -

Royal Ceramics Lanka PLC 115,000 4,932 4,681 - - -

Sarvodaya Development Finance PLC 100 2 1 - - -

Dipped Products PLC - - - 120,000 5,012 5,568

Sanasa Development Bank PLC - - - 70,000 4,456 3,976

23,439 28,870 18,366 18,624

COMPANY

No. of
Shares Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2022

No. of
Shares Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Hemas Holding PLC 1,295 73 60 1,295 73 108

Lanka Walltile PLC 25,000 1,875 1,743 114,000 4,205 4,298

Lanka Tiles PLC 20,000 1,378 1,194 120,000 4,475 4,458

Expo Lanka Holdings PLC 61,000 6,431 12,673 - - -

Browns Investment PLC 340,000 2,862 2,244 - - -

LOLC Holdings PLC 10,500 5,886 6,274 - - -

Royal Ceramics Lanka PLC 115,000 4,932 4,681 - - -

Sarvodaya Development Finance PLC 100 2 1 - - -

Dipped Products PLC - - - 120,000 5,012 5,568

Sanasa Development Bank PLC - - - 70,000 4,456 3,976

23,439 28,870 18,221 18,408

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 18,624 218 18,408 73

Purchases /(sales) during the year 2,339 18,148 2,520 18,148

Disposal Gain on sales of Quoted Equity Securities 2,734 - 2,698 -

Appreciation/(Provision) for Value of Investments 5,173 258 5,244 187

Balance as at 31st March 28,870 18,624 28,870 18,408
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18.2 Investments in Unit Trust
GROUP/COMPANY

No of Unit Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2022 No of Unit Cost

Market
value as at
31.03.2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Capital Alliance Limited Income Fund 18,212,327 367,469 393,172 20,481,383 406,000 411,642

18,212,327 367,469 393,172 20,481,383 406,000 411,642

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Fair value as at 1st April 411,642 - 411,642 -

Investments/(Redemption) made during the year (48,000) 406,000 (48,000) 406,000

Disposal Gain on sales of Unit Trust Investments 9,469 - 9,469 -

Fair Gain on remeasurement 20,061 5,642 20,061 5,642

Fair Value of Unit Trust as at 31st March 393,172 411,642 393,172 411,642

19. ASSET HELD FOR SALE
The Board of Directors has recommended that action be taken to wind up Central Industries Marketing (Pvt) Limited by 
Voluntary Liquidation as at 31 March 2022 and Management has appointed the liquidator.

19.1 Assets Classified as Held for Sale
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Current Tax Assets 100 - - -

100 - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 149 - - -

19.2 Liabilities Classified as Held for Sale
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Other Payables 1,224 - - -

1,224 - - -
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Fixed Deposit 100,000 - 100,000 -

Cash in Hand 268 233 268 233

Cash at Bank 389,805 22,110 389,531 22,027

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position 490,073 22,343 489,799 22,260

Bank Overdraft - (5,028) - (5,028)

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Statement of Cash flows 490,073 17,315 489,799 17,232

21. STATED CAPITAL
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Issued and fully paid Ordinary Shares 284,912 160,831 284,912 160,831

21.1 Movement in Number of ordinary shares
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Issued ordinary shares as at the beginning of the year 20,698,110 19,768,428 20,698,110 19,768,428

shares issued as a scrip dividend 1,090,826 929,682 1,090,826 929,682

Number of ordinary shares at 31 March 21,788,936 20,698,110 21,788,936 20,698,110

21.2 Movement in Stated Capital
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Issued ordinary shares as at the beginning of the year 160,831 121,320 160,831 121,320

shares issued as a scrip dividend 124,081 39,511 124,081 39,511

Number of ordinary shares at 31 March 284,912 160,831 284,912 160,831

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at general meetings of the Company.
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22. REVALUATION RESERVE
The revaluation reserve relates to freehold land and building which has been revalued by the Group.

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 401,883 356,619 401,883 356,619

Depreciation on Revaluation Surplus (2,626) (2,626) (2,626) (2,626)

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus 657 657 657 657

Effect of change in Deferred Tax Rate (Note 25.C) - 47,233 - 47,233

Balance as at 31st March 399,914 401,883 399,914 401,883

23. GENERAL RESERVE
The General Reserve represents the amount set aside by the Group/Company for future expansion and contingencies.

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

General Reserve 100,814 100,814 100,814 100,814

100,814 100,814 100,814 100,814

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Defined benefit obligation 65,033 68,158 65,033 68,158

65,033 68,158 65,033 68,158

24.1 Movement in present value of the defined benefit obligations
GROUP COMPANY

For the Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Defined Benefit Obligation as at 1st April 68,158 54,775 68,158 54,775

Included in profit or loss
Current Service Cost and Interest (Note 24.2) 10,381 11,363 10,381 11,363

Past Service Credit (Note 24.2) (944) - (944) -

Included in other comprehensive income
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss ( Note 24.3) (9,030) 5,045 (9,030) 5,045

68,565 71,183 68,565 71,183

Payments during the year (3,532) (3,025) (3,532) (3,025)

Defined benefit obligation at 31st March 65,033 68,158 65,033 68,158
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The provision for retirement benefits obligations as at 31st March 2022 is based on the actuarial valuation carried out 
by professionally qualified actuaries, Mr. Pushpakumar Gunasekara , an Actuary/Associate of the Institute of Actuaries of 
Australia, using “Projected Unit Credit” (PUC) method, the method recommended by the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard – 
LKAS 19 on “Employee Benefits”

The actuarial present value of the promised retirement benefits as at 31st March 2022 amounted to Rs. 65,032,852/-

During 2021/2022, the pension arrangements were adjusted to reflect new legal requirements in the country regarding the 
retirement age. As a result of the plan amendment, the Company’s defined benefit obligation decreased by Rs. 944,163/-. A 
corresponding past service credit was recognized in profit or loss during 2021/2022.

24.2 Amounts recognized in profit or loss
GROUP COMPANY

For the Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Current Service cost 5,609 6,159 5,609 6,159

Past service credit (944) - (944) -

Interest Cost 4,772 5,204 4,772 5,204

9,437 11,363 9,437 11,363

24.3 Amounts recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
GROUP COMPANY

For the Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss during the year (9,030) 5,045 (9,030) 5,045

(9,030) 5,045 (9,030) 5,045

24.4 Actuarial assumptions
The following are the principle assumptions used by the valuer for the valuation as at 31st March 2022.

As at 31st March GROUP COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021

Discount rate 13.5% 7.0% 13.5% 7.0%

Expected Future salary increases 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0%

Staff turnover rate 19.0% 21.0% 19.0% 21.0%

Retirement age (Years) 60 55 60 55

Weighted average retirement age 5.68 years 5.58 years 5.68 years 5.58 years

Other assumptions regarding future mortality are based on A67-70 (Ultimate) UK Assured Lives Table.

The gratuity liability is not externally funded.

It is also assumed that the company will continue in business as a going concern.;

24.5 Sensitivity of Assumptions Employed in the Actuarial Valuation

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions employed with all 
other variables held constant in the employment benefit liability measurement.
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As at 31st March 2022 2021

Effect on
defined
benefit
liability

Estimated
defined
benefit
liability

Effect on
defined
benefit
liability

Estimated
defined
benefit
liability

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Discount rate
1% increase in discount rate (1,576) 63,457 (1,707) 66,451

1% decrease in discount rate 1,686 66,719 1,844 70,002

Salary increment rate
1% increase in salary increment rate 1,988 67,021 2,077 70,235

1% decrease in salary increment rate (1,888) 63,145 (1,965) 66,193

24.6 Maturity analysis of payments
The following payments are expected on defined benefit obligations in future years.

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Within next 12 months 21,018 24,890 21,018 24,890

Between 1-2 years 4,466 8,641 4,466 8,641

Between 2-5 years 23,376 34,627 23,376 34,627

Between 5-10 years 16,173 - 16,173 -

65,033 68,158 65,033 68,158

25. Deferred Taxation
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Deferred Tax Liabilities - Note 25.(b) 135,066 135,405 135,066 135,405

Deferred Tax Assets - Note 25.(a) (25,709) (24,152) (25,709) (24,152)

109,357 111,253 109,357 111,253

25. (a) Deferred Tax Assets
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance at the beginning of the year 24,152 27,480 24,152 27,480

Provision during the year - Profit or Loss 3,182 5,578 3,182 5,578

Provision / (Reversal) during the year - Other Comprehensive Income (1,625) 908 (1,625) 908

Effect of change in tax rates - (9,814) - (9,814)

Balance at the end of the year 25,709 24,152 25,709 24,152
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25. (b) Deferred Tax Liabilities
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance at the beginning of the year 135,405 215,252 135,405 215,252

Reversal during the year - Profit or Loss (339) (2,971) (339) (2,971)

Effect of change in tax rates - (76,876) - (76,876)

Balance at the end of the year 135,066 135,405 135,066 135,405

25. (c) Provision for the year
GROUP COMPANY

For the Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Reversal during the year recognized in Profit/(Loss) (3,521) (8,549) (3,521) (8,549)

Provision/ (Reversal) during the year recognized in Other 
Comprehensive Income 1,625 (908) 1,625 (908)

Effect of change in tax rates - Reversal during the year recognized 
in profit/ (Loss) - (19,829) - (19,829)

Effect of change in tax rates - Reversal during the year recognized 
in Other Comprehensive Income - (47,233) - (47,233)

Reversal during the year recognized in Comprehensive Income (1,896) (76,519) (1,896) (76,519)

25. (d) Reconciliation of Deferred tax effect on temporary differences
2022 2021

As at 31st March
Temporary
difference

Tax
effect on

temporary
difference

Temporary
difference

Tax
effect on

temporary
difference

(In Thousands of Rupees)

GROUP / COMPANY
Temporary Difference on Property Plant & Equipment (278,038) (50,047) (279,921) (50,386)

Temporary Difference on Revaluation of Land and Buildings (472,329) (85,019) (472,329) (85,019)

Temporary Difference on Retirement Benefit Obligations 65,033 11,706 68,158 12,268

Temporary Difference on Stock Provision 34,006 6,121 32,565 5,862

Temporary Difference on Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 43,789 7,882 33,456 6,022
(607,539) (109,357) (618,071) (111,253)

Management has measured the net deferred tax liability by applying the tax rates as per Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act 
No 10 of 2021 as at 31st March 2022. The Net Deferred Tax Liability is arrived at by applying the Income Tax rate of 18% 
applicable for the temporary difference as at 31st March 2022. (18% - 31st March 2021).
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26. TRADE CREDITORS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Local Suppliers 71,688 47,526 71,688 47,526

Foreign Suppliers 1,199,510 270,247 1,199,510 270,247

Balance as at 31st March 1,271,198 317,773 1,271,198 317,773

27. OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Accrued Expenses 326,671 200,906 326,610 200,726

Distributor Security Deposits 46,989 35,481 46,989 35,481

Other Liabilities 37,315 24,029 37,339 22,826

Balance as at 31st March 410,975 260,416 410,938 259,033

28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Current
Short term Loans 579,706 578,659 579,706 578,659

Long term Loans 17,280 - 17,280 -

596,986 578,659 596,986 578,659

Non Current
Long term Loans 21,984 - 21,984 -

21,984 - 21,984 -

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 578,659 331,982 578,659 331,982

Loans obtained during the Year 2,429,880 1,991,292 2,429,880 1,991,292

3,008,539 2,323,274 3,008,539 2,323,274

Repayments during the Year (2,389,569) (1,744,615) (2,389,569) (1,744,615)

Balance at 31st March 618,970 578,659 618,970 578,659

Current 596,986 578,659 596,986 578,659

Non Current 21,984 - 21,984 -

Total Loan as at 31st March 618,970 578,659 618,970 578,659
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28.1 The interest rate exposure on the bank borrowings as at the reporting date are 
as follows :

Loan and Borrowings
Loan

Amount
Balance
Amount

Interest
Rate Term and Condition

Long Term Loans
Commercial Bank Loan 22,204 17,764 8.00% In 60 equal monthly instalments of Rs.740,000/-.
Sampath Bank Loan 25,000 21,500 8.50% In 35 monthly instalments of Rs.700,000/- and final 

instalments of Rs. 500,000/-.
47,204 39,264

Short Term Loans

Short Term Loans have been obtained for working capital financing from commercial banks and are repayable within periods 
ranging from two months to five months. All working capital facilities have been obtained under a negative pledge on the 
Company’s assets.

29. CURRENT TAX ASSETS/ LIABILITIES

29.1 Current Tax Liabilities
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance as at 1st April 83,474 30,587 83,474 30,587

Provision for the year 177,065 94,571 177,018 94,531

Income tax liability set off with current tax assets (12) - - -

Payments made during the year (123,742) (41,684) (123,707) (41,644)

Balance at 31st March 136,785 83,474 136,785 83,474

29.2 Current Tax Assets
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Income Tax Receivables 12 125 - -

30. DUE TO RELATED PARTIES
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Tivoli Plastics (Pvt) Ltd. 344 1,079 344 1,079

344 1,079 344 1,079
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31. DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Central Industries Marketing (Pvt) Ltd. - - 5,329 5,236

Polymer Technologies (Pvt) Ltd. - - 1,070 1,145

- - 6,399 6,381

The above balances represent funds advanced by the subsidiaries to the Company. Interest has been paid to the subsidiaries 
on these funds at average weighted deposit rates (AWDR) that prevailed during the year.

32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There have been no material events occurring after the reporting date that require adjustments to or disclosure in the 
Financial Statements, other than those disclosed in Note 12, in respect of the proposed dividend for the year.

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

33.1 Parent and Ultimate Controlling Entity
In the opinion of Directors, Central Finance Co. PLC is the parent and ultimate parent of the Company.

33.2 Transactions with Group Entities
The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary course of its business with parties who are defined as related 
parties in Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 24 -”Related Party Disclosures” the details of which are reported below. 
The consideration for the goods and services provided has been paid or accrued at prices offered to unrelated customers 
prevailing at that time.

Name of the Related 
Parties

Nature of 
Relationship Nature of Transactions Status

Transaction Value

31st March
2022

31st March
2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Central Finance Co. PLC Parent Company Interest earned from savings 
account

Recurrent 25 201

CF Insurance Brokers 
(Pvt) Ltd.

Fellow Subsidiary Value of Insurance premia Paid Recurrent 2,887 3,804

Nations Trust Bank PLC. An Associate of the 
Parent Company

Interest received Recurrent 1,360 1,964

Interest and Charges Paid Recurrent 6,014 3,977

Central Industries 
Marketing (Pvt) Ltd.

A wholly owned 
subsidiary

Interest paid on funds advanced Recurrent 261 357

Polymer Technologies 
(pvt) Ltd.

A wholly owned 
subsidiary

Interest paid on funds advanced Recurrent 55 83
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33.2. (a) Due to / from Group Entities

Name of the Related 
Party

Nature of 
Relationship Nature of Transactions Status

Transaction Value

31st March
2022

31st March
2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Central Finance Co. PLC Parent Company Saving account balance as at 31 st 
March 

Recurrent 557 532

Nations Trust Bank PLC. An Associate of the 
parent company

Banking facilities in the normal 
course of business. (Limit of 
Facilities - Rs. 500 Mn.)

Trade Finance Recurrent 127,890 19,422

33.3 Transactions with other Related Parties

Name of the Related 
Parties

Nature of 
Relationship Nature of Transactions Status

Transaction Value

31st March
2022

31st March
2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Tivoli Plastics (Pvt) Ltd An entity controlled 
by Director - Mr. 
C.S.W. De Costa

Subcontract Manufacture of PVC 
Pipe Fittings
Value of Processing Charges paid Recurrent 17,617 16,426

Amano Construction 
(Pvt ) Ltd

An entity controlled 
by Director - Mr. 
C.S.W. De Costa

Contract for Rs. 14 Mn. to extend 
an existing factory building at 
Yakkala factory

Non 
Recurrent

- Advance payment made during 
the year

11,656 -

Contract for Rs. 50 Mn. to 
construct stores at Yakkala 
factory

Non 
Recurrent

- Advance payment made during 
the year

20,000 -

Contract for Rs. 61.77 Mn. to 
construct a Raw Material stores at 
Yakkala Factory

Non 
Recurrent

-

- Advance payment made during 
the year

30,000

All transactions negotiated and carried out in the ordinary course of business have been reviewed and approved by the 
Related Party Transactions Review Committee of the Company. All the transactions entered into with these related parties on 
an arms length basis under normal commercial terms & conditions.

Transactions with Related Parties

33.4 Key Management Personnel
According to LKAS 24 Related Party Disclosure, Key Management Personnel are those having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. Accordingly, the Directors (including Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors) and  Director/CEO of the Company have been classified as Key Management Personnel of the Company and the 
Group.
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As Central Finance Co. PLC (CFC) is the ultimate parent of the Company, the Board of Directors of CFC have the authority and 
responsibility for the planning, directing and controlling of the activities of the Company. Accordingly, the Directors (including 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors) of CFC have also been classified as Key Management Personnel of the Company and 
the Group.

i. Loans given to directors

No loans have been given to the Directors of the Company.

ii. Key Management Personnel compensation

Compensation paid to/on behalf of Key Management Personnel of the Group and Company are as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

For the Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Short-term employee benefits 20,250 11,204 20,250 11,204

Post employment benefits 1,710 1,059 1,710 1,059

21,960 12,263 21,960 12,263

33.5 The Group/Company has not made any provision with respect to related party receivables as there were no such 
receivables at the year end. (2021-Nil)

33.6 Gurantees were Given to/ Received from Related Parties
There are no gurantees given to/ received from related parties

33.7 The transaction with Close Family Members
There was no transaction with Close Family Members during the year ended 31st March 2022.

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Basis for segmentation

The Group has the following two strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer different 
products and service and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment.

Reportable segments Operations

Water Management Products Manufacturing and distributing of Water Management Products
Electrical Products Manufacturing and distributing of Electrical Products

For the year ended 31st March 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Revenue
Water Management Products 6,214,570 3,793,625

Electrical Products 517,313 329,317

6,731,883 4,122,942

Profit Before Taxation
Water Management Products 628,530 430,626

Electrical Products 47,108 38,672

675,638 469,298
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As at 31st March 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Segment Assets & Liabilities
Total Assets
Water Management Products 4,843,124 3,344,903

Electrical Products 421,270 262,927

5,264,394 3,607,830

Total Liabilities
Water Management Products 2,513,384 1,404,129

Electrical Products 100,502 21,711

2,613,886 1,425,840

35. LITIGATIONS AND CLAIMS
The Company has taken legal action to recover Rs. 16,953,322 as at 31st March 2022. These litigations are still being heard in 
the courts.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has serviced the customer with commitment via bank gurantees of Rs. 508,612,126.

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Board of Directors had approved to purchase of capital assets totalling Rs. 211.2 Mn. of which Rs. 94 Mn. has been paid as 
an advance. The Company had no other capital commitments as at 31st March 2022.

38. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements.

39. IMPACT FROM RAPID CHANGE IN MACRO ECONOMIC FACTORS

 The Macro-Economic Environment of Sri Lanka
The operations of nearly all the manufacturing companies, which are dependent on import of raw material and finished goods, 
has been witnessing severe events that have set off an interconnected fiscal, monetary and economic crisis as well as a deep 
recession that have reached unprecedented levels. Sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all 
major rating agencies and reached the level of ‘Default Imminent (C)’ when, on 12th April 2022, the Sri Lankan Government 
announced that it will withhold payment on the bonds due and discontinuation of payments on all its foreign debts.

The unexpected abatement in foreign reserves of Sri Lanka has resulted in a highly volatile depreciation of the Sri Lankan 
Rupee leading to increased goods prices in the country. in the country. On 10th March 2022, The Central Bank of  
Sri Lanka took fiscal monetary measures in order to mitigate the aforementioned monetary consequences. Firstly, restrictions 
were imposed on the import of non-essential commodities by limiting the Letter of Credit facilities which are expected to 
discourage the demand on foreign currencies. Secondly, the Standing Deposit Facility Rate (SDFR) and the Standing Lending 
Facility Rate (SLFR) of the Central Bank were increased in order to debilitate the inflation condition. Finally, the open account 
facility and customer matching arrangement to import goods was prohibited. 
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Impact on Business Operations 
PVC manufacturing is mainly dependent on the imported PVC resin. Due to the limitation on import material, the company 
has faced difficulty in maintaining the material stock levels at optimal levels as it operated before. Furthermore, resin prices in 
the global market have gone up and also the rapid depreciation of the Rupee has resulted in a drastic increase to the cost of 
material as never seen before.

Moreover, interest expenses on the borrowing of funds, which are mainly utilized for funding import material has increased 
significantly due to the unprecedented interest rates. Also, general overhead expenses such as wages on hired labour, 
stationery, fuel, etc, has increased due to the economic inflation at present. 

Measures imposed to curtail the adverse present economic condition
After scrutinizing the present macro and micro conditions of the Sri Lankan economy, the following favourable measures have 
been taken in order to ensure business continuation and adjust to the changing economic environment. To begin, production 
has been rescheduled and production schedule prioritized the base on products with a higher contribution. Also, negotiations 
were made with a local material supplier, who also engages in the same manufacturing category, to facilitate the raw material 
which can refill the deficit stock and maintain sufficient levels of stock which we require in order to continue smooth flow of 
operations.

In addition, the list price / retail price has been marked with the adjustment required for the increase in the cost of material 
which would diminish the losses due to the higher price of material and the risk arising due to exchange rate variances. Also, 
the management has decided to distribute goods to customers on a cash on sale basis and a reduced credit period is only 
offered for specific customers who can adhere to the aforesaid funding requirement, eventually lessening the cost of funding. 
Finally, we are closely monitoring the operation process and eliminating non-essential expenditures, also restructuring some 
of the divisions with minimum operational cost.

Impact on Assets & Impairments
As a result of the steps taken by company, Company could maintain the standard operations without causing disturbance to 
performance of the company and its assets. Therefore, no requirement arose on impairment of Financial and Non-Financial 
Assets of the company while the Company has improved the plant and machinery for serving a better quality of product to 
the market. 

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE & RISK MANAGEMENT

40.1 Accounting Classification & fair value
Financial Instruments are measured on an ongoing basis either at Fair Value or at Amortized Cost. The summary of significant 
accounting policies describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including 
fair value gains and losses, are recognized.

The following tables analyze financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date, by the level in the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized and a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values of 
the financial assets and liabilities of the Company and Group which are not measured at fair value in the Financial Statements. 
The amounts are based on the values recognized in the statement of financial position.

Based on normal market conditions, the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities with shorter maturity periods have 
been considered a reasonable approximation to the fair value. Accordingly, the fair value hierarchy does not apply to cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and amounts due to related 
parties and subsidiaries.
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Accounting classifications of financial instruments – Group (As at 31st March 2022)

As at 31st March 2022
Financial
Assets at

FVTPL

Financial
Assets At

Amortized
cost

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Total
Carrying
Amount

Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair 
value Level 01 Level 02 Level 03

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial assets measured at 
Fair Value
Investments in Quoted Equity 
Securities 28,870 - - 28,870 28,870 28,870 - -

Investments in Unit Trust 393,172 - - 393,172 393,172 - 393,172 -

422,042 - - 422,042 422,042 28,870 393,172 -

Financial assets not measured 
at Fair Value
Trade Receivables - 1,558,800 - 1,558,800 - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents - 490,073 - 490,073 - - - -

- 2,048,873 - 2,048,873 - - - -

Total 422,042 2,048,873 - 2,470,915 422,042 28,870 393,172 -

Financial liabilities not 
measured at Fair Value
Loans and Borrowings - - 618,970 618,970 - - - -

Trade Creditors - - 1,271,198 1,271,198 - - - -

Amount due to Related Parties - - 344 344 - - - -

Total - - 1,890,512 1,890,512 - - - -
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Accounting classifications of financial instruments – Group (As at 31st March 2021)

As at 31st March 2021
Financial
Assets at

FVTPL

Financial
Assets At

Amortized
cost

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Total
Carrying
Amount

Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair 
value Level 01 Level 02 Level 03

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial assets measured at 
Fair Value
Investments in Quoted Equity 
Securities 18,624 - - 18,624 18,624 18,624 - -
Investments in Unit Trust 411,642 - - 411,642 411,642 - 411,642 -

430,266 - - 430,266 430,266 18,624 411,642 -

Financial assets not measured 
at Fair Value
Trade Receivables - 889,737 - 889,737 - - - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents - 22,343 - 22,343 - - - -

- 912,080 - 912,080 - - - -
Total 430,266 912,080 - 1,342,346 430,266 18,624 411,642 -

Financial liabilities not 
measured at Fair Value
Loans and Borrowings - - 578,659 578,659 - - - -
Trade Creditors - - 317,773 317,773 - - - -
Amount due to Related Parties - - 1,079 1,079 - - - -
Bank Overdraft - - 5,028 5,028 - - - -
Total - - 902,539 902,539 - - - -

Accounting classifications of financial instruments – Company (As at 31st March 2022)

As at 31st March 2022
Financial
Assets at

FVTPL

Financial
Assets At

Amortized
cost

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Total
Carrying
Amount

Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair 
value Level 01 Level 02 Level 03

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial assets measured at 
Fair Value
Investments in Quoted Equity 
Securities 28,870 - - 28,870 28,870 28,870 - -
Investments in Unit Trust 393,172 - - 393,172 393,172 - 393,172 -

422,042 - - 422,042 422,042 28,870 393,172 -

Financial assets not measured 
at Fair Value
Trade Receivables - 1,558,800 - 1,558,800 - - - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents - 489,799 - 489,799 - - - -

- 2,048,599 - 2,048,599 - - - -
Total 422,042 2,048,599 - 2,470,641 422,042 28,870 393,172 -

Financial liabilities not 
measured at Fair Value
Loans and Borrowings - - 618,970 618,970 - - - -
Trade Creditors - - 1,271,198 1,271,198 - - - -
Amount due to Related Parties - - 344 344 - - - -
Amount due to Subsidiaries - - 6,399 6,399 - - - -
Total - - 1,896,911 1,896,911 - - - -
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Accounting classifications of financial instruments – Company (As at 31st March 2021)

As at 31st March 2021
Financial
Assets at

FVTPL

Financial
Assets At

Amortized
cost

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Total
Carrying
Amount

Fair value hierarchy

Fair 
value Level 01 Level 02 Level 03

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial assets measured at 
Fair Value
Investments in Quoted Equity 
Securities 18,408 - - 18,408 18,408 18,408 - -

Investments in Unit Trust 411,642 - - 411,642 411,642 - 411,642 -

430,050 - - 430,050 430,050 18,408 411,642 -

Financial assets not measured 
at Fair Value
Trade Receivables - 889,737 - 889,737 - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents - 22,260 - 22,260 - - - -

- 911,997 - 911,997 - - - -

Total 430,050 911,997 - 1,342,047 430,050 18,408 411,642 -

Financial liabilities not 
measured at Fair Value
Loans and Borrowings - - 578,659 578,659 - - - -

Trade Creditors - - 317,773 317,773 - - - -

Amount due to Related Parties - - 1,079 1,079 - - - -

Amount due to Subsidiaries - - 6,381 6,381 - - - -

Bank Overdraft - - 5,028 5,028 - - - -

Total - - 908,920 908,920 - - - -

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 ▲ Credit risk

 ▲ Liquidity risk

 ▲ Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

Risk Management Framework

The Group Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Board of Directors has delegated this function to the Director/Chief Executive Officer who develops and 
monitors the Group’s risk management policies and reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. The Group’s 
risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 
and obligations.
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The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The 
Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews 
of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

41.1 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group, if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet 
contractual obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and the placement of 
deposits with banking institutions.

41.1.1 Exposure to credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at the year end based on the carrying value of financial assets in the 
statement of financial position is given below. There were no off-balance sheet exposures as at the year end date.

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees) Note

Financial assets at fair value through Profit or Loss
Investment in Quoted Equity Securities Note 18.1 28,870 18,624 28,870 18,408

Investment in Unit Trust Note 18.2 393,172 411,642 393,172 411,642

Financial assets at amortized cost
Trade Receivables Note 17 1,558,800 889,737 1,558,800 889,737

Investment in Fixed Deposit Note 20 100,000 - 100,000 -

Cash at Bank Note 20 389,805 22,110 389,531 22,027

Total 2,470,647 1,342,113 2,470,373 1,341,814

41.1.2 Management of Credit Risk
a) Trade Receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, 
management also considers the market segment of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry in 
which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness before 
the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Sales limits are established for each customer, 
which represents the maximum open amount without requiring further approval from the Director/ Chief Executive Officer; 
these limits are reviewed annually. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact 
with the Group only on a prepayment basis or on a secured basis. In response to the current economic conditions , the 
risk management committee has also been performing more frequent reviews of sales limits for customers in regions and 
industries that are severely impacted.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing a maximum payment period of 30 and 
60 days for individual and corporate customers respectively. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group temporarily 
extended the credit terms to up to 60 days for specific customers with liquidity constraints arising as a direct result of 
the current economic conditions. All extensions were granted within current sales limits after careful consideration of the 
impact of the current economic conditions on the creditworthiness of the customer and each customer that was granted an 
extension is closely monitored for credit deterioration.

More than 84 Percent of the Group’s customers have been transacting with the Group for over four years. In monitoring 
customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to the credit characteristics of the market segment, including whether 
they are an individual or legal entity, whether they are corporate customers or a state entities.
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The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. The Group does not have trade receivables 
and contract assets for which no loss allowance is recognized because of collateral.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the end of the reporting period by type of counterparty was as 
follows;

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March, 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Retail Dealer Channel Customers 761,745 580,178 758,316 574,975

Corporate Customers 171,808 168,628 171,808 168,628

State Entities 672,464 179,590 672,464 179,590

Total Trade Receivable 1,606,017 928,396 1,602,588 923,193

The Company’s ten most significant customers account for Rs. 613.3 Mn. of the trade receivables carrying amount as at 31st 
March 2022 (2021: Rs. 198.2 Mn).

Expected credit loss assessment for Trade Receivables

The Company and the Group establish an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect 
of Trade Receivables. Since the Company and Group operate in an environment where each customer contract is different, 
developing an allowance matrix as a whole would be impracticable. Therefore the Board of Directors has decided to assess 
each receivable separately based on the segment, age of customer relationship and historical data of payment statistics at 
every reporting date.

The aging of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

As at 31st March,2022 GROUP COMPANY

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

(In Thousands of Rupees)

1 – 60 days 927,842 4,315 923,527  927,842  4,315  923,527 

61 – 182 days 563,580 8,835 554,745  563,580  8,835  554,745 

Above 182 days 114,595 34,067 80,528  111,166  30,638  80,528 

Total 1,606,017 47,217 1,558,800  1,602,588  43,788  1,558,800

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows.

As at 31st March 2022 GROUP COMPANY

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Balance at the beginning of the year 38,659 33,456

Impairment provision - recognized for the year 13,250 13,250

Written off during the year (4,692) (2,918)

Balance at the end of the year 47,217 43,788
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b) Credit risk on financial investments

The Group is also exposed to credit risk through its financial investments. The credit worthiness of the financial instruments 
are assessed using the credit ratings assigned to each security and fixed deposit. This rating provides the Company an 
indication of the financial stability of the investment. The ratings are based on Fitch Ratings.

Credit quality analysis of financial investments

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

FD Investment having credit ratings
AA+ to AA- 50,000 - 50,000 -

BBB 50,000 - 50,000 -

100,000 - 100,000 -

Unit Trust Investment having credit ratings
AA+ to AA- 393,172 411,642 393,172 411,642

393,172 411,642 393,172 411,642

Cash at Bank having credit ratings
AA+ to AA- 176,416 10,199 176,142 10,116

BBB 210,805 11,911 210,805 11,911

CC+ to CC- 2,584 2,584

389,805 22,110 389,531 22,027

The above has been derived as per the Group’s risk management policy of using the carrying values in the Statement of 
Financial Position. There were no off - balance sheet exposures as at the date. This does not include the exposure that would 
arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

Risk response to credit risk on financial investments

 ▲ The Company’s investment policy prohibits non-graded investments unless specifically authorized.

 ▲ Regularly review credit worthiness of counterparties and take necessary actions if required.

 ▲ Appropriate actions are implemented when the investments are expected to be a high credit risk.

41.2 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk’ is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s objective when managing liquidity is to ensure, as 
far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
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41.2.1. Exposure to Liquidity Risk
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and 
undiscounted, include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.

GROUP

As at 31st March 2022 Total
Carrying
Amount

Contractual cash flows

Total
6 months or

less
6 - 12

months 1-2 Years
More than

2 years

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and Borrowings 618,970 622,772 589,834 9,752 18,357 4,829

Trade Payables 1,271,198 1,271,198 1,271,198 - - -

Other Payables 84,304 84,304 84,304 - - -

Amounts due to related parties 344 344 344 - - -

1,974,816 1,978,618 1,945,680 9,752 18,357 4,829

As at 31st March 2021 Total
Carrying
Amount

Contractual cash flows

Total
6 months or

less
6 - 12

months 1-2 Years
More than

2 years

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and Borrowings 578,659 578,659 578,659 - - -

Trade Payables 317,773 317,773 317,773 - - -

Other Payables 59,510 59,510 59,510 - - -

Amounts due to related parties 1,079 1,079 1,079 - - -

Bank Overdraft 5,028 5,028 5,028 - - -

962,049 962,049 962,049 - - -

COMPANY

As at 31st March 2022 Total
Carrying
Amount

Contractual cash flows

Total
6 months or

less
6 - 12

months 1-2 Years
More than

2 years

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and Borrowings 618,970 622,772 589,834 9,752 18,357 4,829

Trade Payables 1,271,198 1,271,198 1,271,198 - - -

Other Payables 84,328 84,328 84,328 - - -

Amounts due to related parties 344 344 344 - - -

Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,399 6,399 6,399 - - -

1,981,239 1,985,041 1,952,103 9,752 18,357 4,829
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As at 31st March 2021 Total
Carrying
Amount

Contractual cash flows

Total
6 months or

less
6 - 12

months 1-2 Years
More than

2 years

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and Borrowings 578,659 578,659 578,659 - - -

Trade Payables 317,773 317,773 317,773 - - -

Other Payables 58,307 58,307 58,307 - - -

Amounts due to related parties 1,079 1,079 1,079 - - -

Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,381 6,381 6,381

Bank Overdraft 5,028 5,028 5,028 - - -

967,227 967,227 967,227 - - -

Management of Liquidity Risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Group’s reputation. The Group has access to approved short-term financing facilities from commercial banks if required.

The Group monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with expected cash outflows 
on trade and other payables and it is estimated that the maturity of trade receivables as at the reporting date would occur in 
sufficient quantity and timing, given the historical trends, and currently available information which would enable the Group to 
meet its contractual obligations.

The Group monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with expected cash outflows 
on trade and other payables. As at 31 March 2022, the expected cash flows from trade and other receivables maturing within 
two months were Rs 885.5 Mn (2021- Rs. 728.5 Mn.). This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that 
cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

 ▲ Maintaining a diversified funding base and appropriate contingency facilities.

 ▲ Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets that can be readily converted into cash to protect against unforeseen short-
term interruptions to cash flows.

 ▲ Monitoring liquidity ratios and carrying out stress-testing of the Company’s liquidity position.

 ▲ Regular reviews of cash flow projections.

 ▲ Availability of standby overdraft facility to be used in the event of an emergency.

Unutilised bank overdraft facilities

As at 31st March 2022, the Group had approved overdraft facilities amounting to Rs. 135 Mn of which is unutilized. In addition, 
the Company has access to approved trade and short-term financing facilities of Rs. 4,970 Mn from commercial banks, of 
which Rs. 1,048.6 Mn was utilized on the letter of credits/guarantees as at 31st March 2022.

41.3 Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates that would impact the 
Group’s income or the value of an investment in financial instruments. The objective of managing market risk is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing returns.

Market risk principally arises from the Group’s equity investments, interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities, and 
financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.
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41.3.1. Currency risk
The foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on purchases, borrowings and cash deposits 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 
US Dollars.

41.3.1.1 Exposure to currency risk
The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the Group is 
as follows,

As at 31st March, 2022 2021

Amount in
USD

Amount in
LKR

Amount in
USD

Amount in
LKR

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.26 76 0.82 162

0.26 76 0.82 162

Financial Liability
Trade Payables 4,012 1,199,510 1,338 270,247

4,012 1,199,510 1,338 270,247

Net Finance Liability exposure 4,012 1,199,434 1,337 270,085

Closing average exchange rate as at 31st March 2022 is Rs. 298.99/- (2020/2021- Rs.202.04/-).

41.3.1.2 Sensitivity to foreign exchange risk
The Group, as of the reporting date holds financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its functional / 
reporting currency. A reasonable possible strengthening or weakening of the US Dollar (USD) against the Sri Lanka Rupee 
(LKR) as of the reporting date would have affected the measurement of USD denominated Assets and Liabilities and affected 
equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.

The Group has liabilities that are to be settled in US Dollars. LKR has depreciated significantly against USD subsequent to 
the reporting date. As a result, the amount required to settle these liabilities would be significantly different from the amount 
recorded in the Financial Statements as at 31st March 2022.

Impact on 
Profit or Loss

Impact on 
Equity, net of 

tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

(In Thousands of Rupees)

As at 31st March 2022
Impact of change in 1% USD rate (11,994) 11,994 (9,835) 9,835

Impact of change in 15% USD rate (179,915) 179,915 (147,530) 147,530

As at 31st March 2021
Impact of change in 1% USD rate (694) 694 (569) 569

Impact of change in 15% USD rate (10,414) 10,414 (8,540) 8,540
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Management of Foreign exchange risk

 ▲ The Treasury officer analyses the market condition of foreign exchange and analyse the utilisation of cash flows.

 ▲ Regularly review the timing of foreign currency cash inflows and outflows and takes decisions on whether to reinvest the 
foreign cash flows or utilize them to make the foreign currency payments.

 ▲ Looking out forward to contract possibilities.

41.3.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk mainly arises as a result of the Group having interest sensitive assets and liabilities which are directly 
impacted by changes in the interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The management monitors the sensitivities on 
regular basis and ensures that such risks are managed in a timely manner.

The interest rates have increased significantly after the reporting date, this may lead to a substantial negative impact on the 
future profits of the Group.

41.3.2.1 Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the Group is 
as follows,

As at 31st March, 2022 2021

Variable 
interest rate

Fixed 
interest rate Total

Variable 
interest rate

Fixed 
interest rate Total

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Financial Assets
Investments in Fixed Deposits - 100,000 100,000 - - -

- 100,000 100,000 - - -

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 579,706 39,263 618,970 578,659 - 578,659

Bank Overdraft - - - 5,028 - 5,028

579,706 39,263 618,970 583,687 - 583,687

Maximum exposure 579,706 (60,737) 518,970 583,687 - 583,687
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41.3.2.2 Sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the estimated impact on profitability and equity by the fluctuation of interest rates assuming that 
all other variables remain constant on the following financial assets. Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow 
fluctuations.

As at 31st March, 2022 2021

Variable-rate Variable-rate

Impact on
PBT

Impact on
equity

Impact on
PBT

Impact on
equity

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Increase in 100 basis points Financial assets / liabilities
Loans and borrowings (5,797) (4,754) (5,787) (4,745)

Bank Overdraft - - (50) (41)

(5,797) (4,754) (5,837) (4,786)

Decrease in 100 basis points Financial assets / liabilities
Loans and borrowings 5,797 4,754 5,787 4,745

Bank Overdraft - - 50 41

5,797 4,754 5,837 4,786

Management of Interest rate risk

 ▲ The Group monitors its interest rate risk exposure through periodic reviews of asset and liability positions.

 ▲ The Group is limited to obtaining short term (less than 3 months) loans with the veriable interest rate. The Long term 
loans are obtained with a fixed interest rate.

41.3.3 Equity risk
The Group’s exposure to equity risk arises from its investments in equity securities. Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.

41.3.3.1 Listed equity investments
GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March, 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Investment in Quoted Equity Securities 28,870 18,624 28,870 18,408

28,870 18,624 28,870 18,408

41.3.3.2. Sensitivity analysis of equity risk
The following table shows the estimated impact on profitability and equity by the fluctuation of stock market prices at the 
reporting date, assuming that all other variables remain constant.

GROUP COMPANY

Impact on PBT Impact on PBT

As at 31st March, 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

10% decline in stock prices (2,887) (1,862) (2,887) (1,841)

10% Increase in stock prices 2,887 1,862 2,887 1,841
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Management of Equity Risk

The Group manages the equity risk through diversification and placing limits on individual and total equity portfolio 
investments. The Group’s equity risk management policies are;

 ▲ Investment decisions are based on in-depth macroeconomic and industry analysis as well as research reports on company 
performance.

 ▲ Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Company’s senior management on a regular basis.

 ▲ Adherence to the investment policy which includes stringent guidelines on risk exposures.

41.4 Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks, 
such as the risks of misselling of products and non-compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations.

The Group’s objective in managing operational risk is to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Group’s 
reputation with overall cost-effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Group policy requires compliance with all applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility of operational risk to the Risk Committee, the committee is 
responsible for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk.

Management of operational risk

 ▲ Segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions;

 ▲ Reconciliation and monitoring of transactions.

 ▲ Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements.

 ▲ Documentation of controls and procedures.

 ▲ Training and professional development.

 ▲ The results of internal audit reviews are discussed, with the audit committee and management.

 ▲ Compliance with the Company standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by internal audits.

42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s policy is to retain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor & market confidence and to sustain 
the future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, reserves and retain earnings. The Board of Directors 
monitors the return on capital, interest covering ratio, dividend to ordinary shareholders.

The gearing ratio at the reporting date is as follows.

GROUP COMPANY

As at 31st March, 2022 2021 2022 2021

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Total Liabilities 2,613,886 1,425,840 2,619,024 1,430,838

Less:Cash and cash equivalents (490,073) (22,343) (489,799) (22,260)

Net Liabilities 2,123,813 1,403,497 2,129,225 1,408,578

Equity 2,650,508 2,181,990 2,646,984 2,178,568

Gearing ratio 0.80 0.64 0.80 0.65
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1. STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Central Industries PLC is a public Listed Company (Business Reg. PQ 121) the issued ordinary shares of which are listed on the 
Colombo Stock Exchange.

2. STATED CAPITAL
The Stated Capital of the Company as defined by the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 was Rs. 284.9 Mn. as at 31st March 
2022.

3. SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31ST MARCH 2022
Quantity %

Issued Ordinary Shares 21,788,936

Shares held by the Parent Enterprise, Subsidiaries, Associates, Directors, and Shareholders 
whose holdings exceed 10% 11,608,266 53.28

Shares held by the public ( In terms of the rule 7.14.1(a) of the Listing Rules,the
Company qualifies under option five of the minimum public holding requirement) 10,180,670 46.72

Number of Public Shareholders 2,320

4. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 31ST MARCH 2022
Residents Non- Residents Total

Number of Shares 
held

No. of 
Share 

holders
No. of 

Shares %

No. of 
Share 

holders
No.of 

Shares %

No.of 
Share 

holders
No.of 

Shares %

1-1,000 1,590 367,519 1.69 5 1,161 0.01 1,595 368,680 1.69
1,001-10,000 558 1,841,397 8.45 5 12,735 0.06 563 1,854,132 8.51
10,001-100,000 150 3,662,179 16.81 2 66,146 0.30 152 3,728,325 17.11
100,001-1,000,000 14 3,978,263 18.26 - - - 14 3,978,263 18.26
1,000,001 & Over 3 11,859,536 54.43 - - - 3 11,859,536 54.43

Total 2,315 21,708,894 99.63 12 80,042 0.37 2,327 21,788,936 100.00

SHARE INFORMATION
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5. TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
2022 2021

Name
No. of 

Shares %
No. of 

Shares %

1 Central Finance Company PLC A/C No 03 9,599,828 44.06 9,118,835 44.06

2 CF Insurance Brokers (Pvt) Ltd. 1,244,703 5.71 1,182,338 5.71

3 LOLC Finance PLC/V.M.S. Gavasker 1,015,005 4.66 - -

4 Employee Trust Fund Board 763,076 3.50 306,013 1.48

5 Tivoli Lanka (Pvt) Ltd. 677,244 3.11 643,312 3.11

6 Mrs. V. Saraswathi 526,373 2.42 500,000 2.42

7 Hatton National Bank PLC/Hennasy Geeth Balasuriya 261,078 1.20 - -

8 Hatton National Bank PLC - Astrue Alpha Fund 255,894 1.17 - -

9 Hatton National Bank PLC/Dinesh Gangadharan 249,111 1.14 - -

10 Mr. P. Wanigasuriya 200,000 0.92 - -

11 Seylan Bank PLC/F.J.P. Raj 184,230 0.85 150,000 0.72

12 DFCC Bank PLC/L.C.A. Lankeshwara 180,000 0.83 160,000 0.77

13 Hatton National Bank PLC/Ruwan Prasanna Sugathadasa 161,189 0.74 - -

14 Acquest (Pvt) Ltd. 159,793 0.73 - -

15 Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka & Finance PLC/F.H.T.C.Silva 133,050 0.61 - -

16 Mr.V.Sivakumar 113,925 0.52 108,217 0.52

17 Seylan Bank PLC / Emile Joseph Gunesekera &Michelle 
Geneieve Martha Sunasekera 113,300 0.52 100,546 0.49

18 MR. G.C.S. Ramanayake 99,327 0.46 - -

19 MR. C.H.R. De Soysa 89,271 0.41 - -

20 MR. R.S.K. Fernando 83,872 0.38 - -

16,110,296 73.94 12,269,261 59.27

6. SHARE TRADING DURING THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2022
Highest Price - 25th January 2022 Rs. 269.50

Lowest Price - 30th March 2022 Rs. 90.00

Last Traded Price - 31st March 2022 Rs. 98.10

No. of Trades 32,026

No. of Shares Traded 18,952,875

Value of the Shares Traded Rs. 2,975,421,133

Float Adjusted Market Capitalization as at 31st March 2022 Rs. 998,637,487

7. KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

2021/22 2020/21

Dividend per share (Rs.) 5.00 8.00

Dividend pay out 21.70% 41.07%

Net Assets per share (Rs.) 121.64 105.42

No of Shares in issue 21,788,936 20,698,110
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Year ended 31st March 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

(In Thousands of Rupees)

Income Statement
Gross Revenue 6,731,883 4,122,942 3,226,131 2,824,709 2,318,696

Profit Before Taxation 675,638 469,298 262,985 177,030 111,582

Income Tax Expenses (173,544) (66,185) (69,080) (47,535) (28,280)

Profit for the Year 502,094 403,113 193,905 129,495 83,302

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Property ,Plant and equipment 1,025,026 922,406 908,111 917,116 631,374

Intangible Assets 646 27 74 124 176

Total Current Assets 4,238,722 2,685,397 1,667,995 1,338,430 1,205,480

Total Assets 5,264,394 3,607,830 2,576,180 2,255,670 1,837,030

Equity and Liabilities
Share Capital 284,912 160,831 121,320 121,320 121,320

Reserves 2,365,596 2,021,159 1,653,789 1,508,570 1,193,729

Total Equity 2,650,508 2,181,990 1,775,109 1,629,890 1,315,049

Deferred Taxation 109,357 111,253 187,772 189,687 97,776

Retirement Benefit Obligation 65,033 68,158 54,775 50,624 49,908

Loans and Borrowings 21,984 - - - -

Total Current Liabilities 2,417,512 1,246,429 558,524 385,469 374,297

Total Equity and Liabilities 5,264,394 3,607,830 2,576,180 2,255,670 1,837,030

Earnings Per Share(Rs.) 23.04 19.48 9.37 6.55 4.21

Net Assets Per Share (Rs.) 121.64 105.42 89.80 82.45 66.52

Dividend Per Share (Rs,) 5.00 8.00 4.00 2.50 2.00

Price Earning ratio 4.26 5.29 3.50 4.31 9.33

Dividend yield 5.10% 7.80% 12.20% 8.87% 5.09%

Dividend pay out 21.70% 41.07% 40.78% 38.16% 47.46%

Price to book value 0.81% 0.98% 0.38% 0.34% 0.59%

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
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NOTICE OF MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fortieth Annual General Meeting of Central Industries PLC be held online via a virtual 
platform on this 19th day of July 2022 at 11.00 a.m., for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board together with the Financial Statements of the Company for   
 the year ended 31st March 2022 and Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. To declare a final dividend as recommended by the board of directors and to consider and if thought fit, to pass the   
 following resolutions: 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION - DISTRIBUTION OF A FINAL DIVIDEND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 
2022

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT

(i) a final dividend of Rupees Five (LKR 5/-) per share constituting of a total dividend of Rupees One Hundred and  
 Eight Mn. Nine Hundred and Forty Four Thousand Six Hundred and Eighty (LKR 108,944,680) be paid on the  
 issued and fully paid shares of the Company, for the financial year ended 31st March 2022. 

(ii) shareholders entitled to the final dividend shall be those shareholders, whose names have been duly registered  
 in  the Register of Shareholders of the Company and those shareholders whose names appear on the Central  
 Depository Systems (Private) Limited (‘CDS’) as at end of trading on the entitlement date (which shall be the third  
 (3rd) market day from and excluding the date of the Annual General Meeting (the “Record Date”)(the “Entitled   
 Shareholders”).

(iii) the said final dividend of Rupees Five (Rs. 5.00) per share be distributed in the form of a scrip dividends, by the issue  
  of a maximum of one Mn. six hundred and seventy-eight thousand six hundred and fifty four (1,678,654) new   
  ordinary shares in the Company computed on the basis of the following formula and issued at a consideration of   
  Rupees Sixty Four Cents Ninety (Rs. 64.90) per each new share. 

                  Number of shares to be issued  = Number of shares held as at end  of                  1 
 to each shareholder                   trading on the Record Date                        12.98    
                        

(iv) the number of shares to be eventually issued as scrip dividend shall depend on the number of residual fractions   
  arising from the scrip dividends after applying the aforesaid formula and the residual fractions arising from the   
  scrip dividend shall be disregarded in entirety and the value of such fractions (computed on the basis of the  
  aforesaid consideration for the shares to be issued) shall be paid by cheque to the shareholders.

(v)  the new shares to be issued by way of scrip dividend shall immediately consequent to the allotment thereof to the  
  entitled shareholders rank equal and pari passu in all respects with the existing issued and fully paid ordinary shares  
  of the Company and shall be listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange.

(vi) accordingly the management and secretaries of the Company be and are hereby authorized to attend to all matters  
  pertaining to the aforesaid final dividend paid by way of scrip dividend.

3. To propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution for the reappointment of Mr. A.Hettiarachchy who has   
 reached the age of 73 years. 

“IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the age limit referred to in section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 shall not apply to 
Mr. A.Hettiarachchy who has reached the age of 73 years prior to this Annual General Meeting and that he be reappointed as a 
director of the Company”.

4. To propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution for the reappointment of Ms. I.S.Jayasinghe who has reached  
 the age of 74 years. 

“IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the age limit referred to in section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 shall not apply to 
Ms. I.S.Jayasinghe who has reached the age of 74 years prior to this Annual General Meeting and that he be reappointed as a 
director of the Company”.

x
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5. To propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution for the reappointment of Mr. C.S.W.De Costa who has   
 reached the age of 70 years. 

“IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the age limit referred to in section 210 of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 shall not apply to 
Mr. C.S.W.De Costa who has reached the age of 70 years prior to this Annual General Meeting and that he be reappointed as a 
director of the Company”.

6. To re-elect Mr. E.H.Wijenaike a director who retires by rotation in terms of Article 85 of the Articles of Association of the  
 Company.

7. To re-elect Mr. C.S.Hettiarachchi a director who retires by rotation in terms of Article 85 of the Articles of Association of  
 the Company.

8. To re-appoint M/s KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the  
 next Annual General Meeting of the Company at a remuneration to be agreed with by the Board of Directors and to audit  
 the Financial Statements of the Company for the accounting period ending 31st March 2023.

9.  To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities for the ensuing year.

By Order of the Board,
Corporate Services (Private) Limited
Secretaries
Central Industries PLC
Colombo on this 24th day of June 2022

Note:

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote/speak in his/her 
stead and a form of proxy is uploaded to the company’s /CSE web sitefor this purpose. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 
the Company. A completed form of proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company, at No.312, Nawala, Road, 
Rajagiriya or e-mailed to corporateservices@corporateservices.lk not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the 
holding of the meeting.

NOTICE OF MEETING
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Meeting Guidelines

(A) The meeting is to be held in line with the guidelines given by the Colombo Stock Exchange and the health authorities and  
 as per the applicable laws.

(B) In the interest of protecting public health and facilitating social distancing in line with the guidelines issued by the Ministry  
 of Health, Nutrition and Indigenous Medicine, the Annual General Meeting will be held in the manner set out below:

(i)   The shareholders who wish to participate at the meeting will be able to join the meeting through audio or audio  
  and visual means via Zoom. In order for us to forward the access information necessary for participation at the  
  meeting, which shall include the meeting identification number, access password, and access telephone number,  
  please forward the duly completed registration form including your e-mail address and contact telephone number to  
  the registered address of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the  
  meeting, so that the login information could be forwarded to the e-mail addresses so provided. 

These measures have been adopted to observe social distancing regulations/requirements to mitigate the dangers of spread 
of the virus. 

(ii)    If the Company is unable to post this Notice due to any situation beyond its     control, then this Notice will be  
  published in one issue of a daily newspaper in the Sinhala, Tamil and English languages and if the circumstances  
  permit, in one issue of the Gazette. The Annual Report, Notice of Meeting, Form of Proxy and Registration Form will  
  also be published on the website of the Colombo Stock Exchange (https://www.cse.lk) and the website of the  
  Company (https://www.nationalpvc.com ).

(iii)  In terms of circular no. 4 of 2022 from the Colombo Stock Exchange, the Company will not be sending printed   
  copies of the Annual Reports to the shareholders. Proxy forms together with the Notice of Meeting and Registration  
  form have been uploaded to the Company’s website ( https://www.nationalpvc.com ) and should be duly completed  
  as per the instructions given therein and sent to the registered address of the Company or e-mailed to  
  corporateservices@corporateservices.lk not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the  
  meeting and the proxy so appointed shall participate at the meeting through audio or audio visual means only.

(iv) The shareholders who are unable to participate at the Annual General Meeting via Zoom could send their queries, if  
  any, to email address agm@nationalpvc.com at any time before the meeting time and the responses to the same will  
  be included in the minutes of the meeting. 

(v)  Voting in respect of the items in specified in the agenda to be passed will be   registered by using the audio or audio  
  and visual means (Zoom) or a designated ancillary online application. All of such procedures will be explained to the  
  shareholders prior to the commencement of the meeting.

(vi) Shareholders can use the “Q&A Forum” to communicate your questions/concerns as and when required.

(vii) For any questions, please contact Mr. Viraj Kaluarachchi-0707314021/       Mr. Sumitha Fernando – 0707314052 of  
  Central industries PLC during office hours.
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*I/We …………………………………………………………………………………………………….………….............................................................................................................……………

of …………………………………………………………………………………………………….………….............................................................................................................……………........

being *a member/members of CENTRAL INDUSTRIES PLC do hereby appoint

1. Mr.G.S.N. Peiris or failing him,
2. Mr.E.H. Wijenaike or failing him,
3. Mr.A.K. Gunaratne or failing him,
4. Mr.C.S.W.De Costa or failing him,
5. Ms.I.S. Jayasinghe or failing her,
6. Mr.A. Hettiarachchy or failing him,
7. Mr.C.S. Hettiarachchi or failing him,
8. Mr.D.T.R. De Silva or failing him,
9. Mr.I.M.P. Rupatunge or failing him,

…………………………………………………………………………………………………….………….............................................................................................................……………........ of

…………………………………………………………………………………………………….………….............................................................................................................…......…………........

as *my/our Proxy to vote/speak for me/us on *my/our behalf at the 40th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
held on the 19th day of July 2022 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof, and at every poll which may be taken in 
consequence thereof.

For Against

1. To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board together with the Financial 
Statements of the Company

2. To approve a first & final dividend as authorized by the Directors

3. To re-appoint as a Director Mr.A.Hettiarachchy in terms of section 210 of the Companies 
Act No.07 of 2007

4. To re-appoint as a Director Ms .I.S. Jayasinghe in terms of section 210 of the Companies 
Act No.07 of 2007

5. To re-appoint as a Director Mr. C.S.W.De Costa in terms of section 210 of the Companies 
Act No.07 of 2007

6. To re-elect Mr.E.H.Wijenaike as a director who retires in terms of Article 85 of the Articles 
of Association of the Company

7. To re-elect Mr.C.S.Hettiarachchi who retires in terms of Article 85 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company

8. To re-appoint M/s KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors of the Company to hold 
office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company at a 
remuneration to be agreed with by the Board of Directors and to audit the Financial 
Statements of the Company for the accounting period ending 31st March 2023.

9. To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities

Signed this … day of … Two Thousand and Twenty Two.

 ............................................................
 *Signature/s

Note: Please delete the inappropriate words
 Instructions as to completion are noted on the reverse hereof.

FORM OF PROXY



120 Central Industries PLC
Annual Report 2021 | 2022

INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION
1. Kindly perfect the Form of Proxy after filling in legibly your full name and 

address and sign in the space provided. Please fill in the date of signature.

2. A Member entitled to attend and vote/speak at the Meeting is entitled to 
appoint a Proxy who need not be a member, to attend and vote instead of 
him.

3. In the case of a Corporate Member, the Form must be completed under 
its Common Seal, or signed by its attorney or by an officer on behalf of the 
corporation. The Company may, but shall not be bound to require evidence 
of the authority of any such attorney or officer.

4. If the Form of Proxy is signed by an Attorney, the relevant Power of 
Attorney should also accompany the completed Form of Proxy, in the 
manner prescribed by Articles of Association.

5. The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the Registered 
Office of the Company, No.312, Nawala Road, Rajagiriya not less than forty 
eight (48) hours before the appointed time for the Meeting.

FORM OF PROXY



NAME OF COMPANY 
Central Industries PLC 

LEGAL FORM
A Public Limited Liability Company Incorporated in Sri 
Lanka 

DATE OF INCORPORATION
18th September 1984

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
PQ 121

ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY
Central Finance Company PLC

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES  
Central Industries Marketing (Pvt.) Ltd.  
(Reg. No. PV 571) 

Polymer Technologies (Pvt.) Ltd.  
(Reg. No. PV 2468) 

DIRECTORS     
Mr. G.S.N. Peiris – Chairman 

Mr. E.H. Wijenaike  

Mr. C.S.W. De Costa

Mr. A.K. Gunaratne 

Mrs. I.S.Jayasinghe 

Mr. A. Hettiarachchy

Mr. C.S.Hettiarachchi

Mr. D.T.R De Silva

Mr. I.M.P. Rupatunge ( CEO)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED 
OFFICE
No. 312, Nawala Road,

Rajagiriya, Sri Lanka

Telephone : +94-11-2806623

Fax: +94-11-2806622

E-mail: info@nationalpvc.com

Website: www.nationalpvc.com

SECRETARIES
Corporate Services (Private) Limited

216, De Saram Place,

Colombo 10.

AUDITORS
KPMG, Chartered Accountants

32 A, Sir Mohamed Macan Marker Mawatha

Colombo 03.

BANKERS
Hatton National Bank PLC

Nations Trust Bank PLC

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Sampath Bank PLC

Public  Bank PLC

Seylan Bank PLC

Bank Of Ceylon

Bank Of China Limited

Pan Asia Banking  Corporation PLC

People’s Bank

National Development Bank PLC
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